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General Information 
 
This Disclosure Statement is provided pursuant to Connecticut law by TJH Senior Living, LLC d/b/a 
Mozaic Concierge Living (the “Provider”) to a prospective Resident (the “Resident”) of the Continuing 
Care Retirement Community that will be known as “Mozaic Concierge Living” (also referred to here as the 
“Community”).  Connecticut law requires the Provider to provide the prospective Resident with a disclosure 
statement before the initial transfer of funds and before the prospective Resident enters into any agreement 
with the Provider.  
 
Description 
 
Name, Type of Organization and Business Address 
 
The Provider is a limited liability company organized under the laws of the State of Connecticut.   The 
Provider’s sole member is The Jewish Home for the Elderly of Fairfield County, Inc. d/b/a Mozaic Senior 
Life (“Mozaic Senior Life”), a not-for-profit corporation organized under Connecticut law and exempt 
from taxation under Section 501(c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code.  With decades of experience in 
providing services to the elderly, Mozaic Senior Life owns and operates a 9-acre health care complex 
known as The Jewish Home of Fairfield County located at 4200 Park Avenue in Bridgeport, Connecticut.  
This campus features one of the largest skilled nursing facilities in the State of Connecticut accepting 
most forms of insurance, including Medicare and Medicaid.  In addition to the skilled nursing facility, 
Mozaic Senior Life offers assisted living, a continuing care at home program known as “Mozaic at 
Home®,” adult day care, medical and non-medical home care, hospice, physician services, outpatient, 
sub-acute, and long-term rehabilitation therapy, and the Institute on Aging.  
 
Mozaic Concierge Living is currently under development and will be located at 210 Long Ridge Road, 
Stamford, Connecticut.  At this time, the Provider’s business address is:  4200 Park Avenue, Bridgeport, 
Connecticut 06604.  
 
Affiliation 
 
As noted, Mozaic Senior Life is the sole member of the Provider.  No individual or corporate or private 
for-profit entity has an ownership interest in the Provider, or in Mozaic Senior Life.  The Provider will be 
financially and contractually responsible for the Community and will be responsible for the Community’s 
development and the initial financing.  Once the Community is operational, Mozaic Senior Life will be 
responsible for its management.  However, neither Mozaic Senior Life nor any of its affiliates will be 
responsible for the financial or contractual obligations of the Provider.     

 
Description of Property 
 
Mozaic Concierge Living will consist of 168 Independent Living Units (“Residences”) along with 
14 Assisted Living Units, 14 Memory Care Units, and 14 Skilled Nursing Beds (collectively 
referred to as the “Health Center”).  The Community will include approximately 45,000 square 
feet of community and amenity space, underground garage parking spaces, and related site 
improvements.   The Community is expected to consist of the construction of (i) one four-story 
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building with parking below, containing approximately one hundred thirty-three (133) Residences, 
common areas, amenities, Health Center, and (ii) two smaller apartment structures containing the 
remaining thirty-five (35) Residences.  The commons and amenity spaces will have several dining 
venues, including formal dining, outdoor casual dining, and a deli/café; a fitness center with a yoga 
studio, changing rooms and an indoor pool; a unisex salon; a wellness clinic; a multipurpose room; 
a top-floor lounge and deck; and various activities rooms and areas.    

The project site for the Community is an approximately 15-acre parcel at 210 Long Ridge Road in 
Stamford, CT.  The project site is bounded by the Visions Financial Markets office campus to the 
south, the Yale New Haven Health System Medical Office Building to the north, the Rippowam 
River to the west, and Long Ridge Road to the east.  The project site is currently undeveloped, 
consisting primarily of woods.  The Provider acquired the project site in December 2022 and 
obtained zoning approval from the City of Stamford in October 2023, for the general development 
plan.  

Each Residence will be furnished and equipped with the following items: a selected flooring, 
refrigerator and freezer with ice maker, range and oven, dishwasher, microwave oven, garbage 
disposal, washer, dryer, an emergency call system and a telephone/data communications port. Any 
desired upgrades of furnishings or appliances are required to be paid for by the Resident. Weekly 
scheduled housekeeping services will be provided, including vacuuming, light housekeeping and 
laundering and changing of bed linens. Each Residence will be equipped with smoke detectors, a 
fire sprinkler system and an emergency alert system, which will be continuously monitored. 

Life Care Plan    

The Provider will offer a life care plan.  Under the plan, the resident will make a one-time, partially 
refundable payment (“Entrance Fee”) prior to occupancy and will also pay a separate service fee on 
a monthly basis (“Monthly Fee”).  For couples occupying the same unit, a Second Person Entrance 
Fee and Second Person Monthly Fee will apply.  

Benefits/Services Provided 

The Residence and Services Agreement, which is attached as Exhibit I, describes the amenities and 
services that will be provided.  Attached as Exhibit II are the anticipated Entrance Fees and Monthly 
Fees for Community Residences.  The Residence and Services Agreement outlines which services 
and amenities are included in the Monthly Fee as well as those amenities and services available at an 
additional charge.  The Residence and Services Agreement also describes the health-related benefits 
available.  In summary, each Resident will have the right to occupy their Residence for their lifetime.  
If the Resident requires health care services, the Resident will be able to access licensed home health 
care, assisted living, home care companion, and other services in the Residence.  Alternatively, if the 
Resident needs to relocate, either temporarily or permanently, for services offered in the Health 
Center, they will have access to assisted living, memory care and skilled nursing services.  If the 
Resident relocates to the Health Center temporarily, the Resident will continue to pay the Monthly 
Fee for the Residence and will be responsible for charges related to the Health Center stay.  For 
permanent relocations, Residents will pay an adjusted Monthly Fee (the “Life Care Fee”).     



3 
 

 
Board Members and Officers 
 
The Provider is governed by a 5-member Board of Directors appointed by its sole corporate member, 
Mozaic Senior Life. Directors and Officers serve without compensation.  No Director or Officer has any 
equitable or beneficial interest in the Provider.  Following is a current list of the Provider’s Directors and 
Officers:    
 
Jon August (Chairperson) 
Andrew H. Banoff (President & Chief Executive Officer) 
Roger Sliby (Chief Financial Officer) 
Nancy Magida (Secretary) 
Emil Meshberg (Vice Chairperson) 
 
The sole member, Mozaic Senior Life, is governed by a voluntary Board of Directors.  Directors and 
Officers serve without compensation.  No Director or Officer has any equitable or beneficial interest in 
the Provider.  Following is a current list of the sole member’s Directors and Officers:    
 
Jon August (Chairperson) 
Andrew H. Banoff 
Jim Bennett 
Eileen Berenyi 
Michael Fleischer  
Janet Freedman 
Edward Friedland (Secretary) 
Roy Friedman (Honorary Director for Life) 
Roslyn Goldstein (Honorary Director for Life) 
Allyson Gottlieb 
Eric Hendlin  
Eric Katz 
Steven Kunkes 
Marc Levey 
Neil Lippman (Men’s Club) 
Gerald Luterman (Treasurer) 
Nancy Magida  

Michael Marcus 
Emil Meshberg (Vice Chairperson) 
Brian Miles  
Renee Noren 
Alan Phillips 
Peter Poser  
Jeff Radler  
Amy Rich 
Hal Rosnick (Honorary Director for Life) 
Leonard Russ 
William Sims (Honorary Director for Life) 
Sherry Sopin (Women’s Auxiliary) 
Mandy Stanton 
Milton Sutin (Honorary Director for Life) 
Kenneth I. Wirfel  
Martin F. Wolf (Honorary Director for Life) 
Michael Wolfson 

 
Business Experience 
 
The Provider is a new entity and does not have prior experience owning or operating a continuing care 
retirement community.  However, the Provider’s sole member, Mozaic Senior Life, has extensive prior 
experience providing services to the elderly across the continuum of care.  Mozaic Senior Life operates a 
294-bed Skilled Nursing Facility, 18 Assisted Living Apartments, 14 Memory Care Studios, inpatient 
and outpatient rehabilitation services, home health care, companion services, hospice and other 
community services, including adult day care, geriatric assessment and physician services.  In addition, 
Mozaic Senior Life owns and operates a Continuing Care at Home Program, “Mozaic at Home®,” 
registered with the Connecticut Department of Social Services and provides continuing care at home for 
approximately 189 individuals in Connecticut.   
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The Provider has contracted with Greenbrier Development, LLC (“Greenbrier Development”) to provide 
assistance in developing Mozaic Concierge Living.   Greenbrier Development specializes in providing 
planning, development, marketing and strategic consulting services related to multiple areas in the 
senior living and services business. Greenbrier Development currently has a staff of approximately 44 
persons, and senior management of Greenbrier Development has more than 150 years of combined 
experience in senior living development. Greenbrier Development is currently responsible for the 
development and/or marketing of 25 senior living communities in the United States. Greenbrier 
Development has provided strategic consulting services to more than 100 senior living communities 
and providers since 2006. 
 
Mozaic Senior Life and Greenbrier Senior Living, LLC (“Greenbrier Senior Living”) will co-manage the 
Community.  The Mozaic Senior Life management team consists of Andrew H. Banoff, President and 
Chief Executive Officer; Larry Condon, Senior Vice President, Administrator; Roger Sliby, Vice 
President of Finance and Chief Financial Officer; Kara Rodriguez, Vice President, Chief Human 
Resources Officer; Elizabeth Zicari, Vice President, Community Services and Business Development; 
and Sherry Mercer, Director of Nursing.  Greenbrier Senior Living, formed in 2014, is a full-service 
management company based in Birmingham, Alabama. A respected leader with more than 150 years 
combined experience in the senior housing and Continuing Care Retirement Community arena, 
Greenbrier Senior Living specializes in the operation, management, and marketing of senior living 
communities throughout the United States. Greenbrier Senior Living management team members are 
national leaders in the planning, development, marketing, and management of both for profit and 
nonprofit senior living communities throughout the United States of various sizes, care level mix, and 
cost structure. Greenbrier Senior Living is an affiliated company of Greenbrier Development. 
 
Judicial Proceedings 
 
Neither the Provider, Mozaic Senior Life or any of its officers or directors has ever been convicted of a 
felony or pleaded nolo contendere to a felony charge or held liable or enjoined in a civil action by final 
judgment which involved fraud, embezzlement, fraudulent conversion or misappropriation of property or 
has otherwise been subject to any action described in Section 17b-522(b)(4) of the Connecticut General 
Statutes.  To our knowledge, none of the directors or officers listed above has been subject to any action 
described in Section 17b-522(b)(4) of the Connecticut General Statutes. 
 
PROJECT DEVELOPMENT AND TIME FRAME 
 
Before the Provider can obtain financing for the project and begin construction, the Provider must receive 
reservation deposits for at least seventy percent (70%) of the Community’s residences. Those who wish 
to reserve a Residence at the Community can do so by (i) signing a Reservation Agreement, (ii) paying 
the lesser of ten percent (10%) of the Entrance Fee (“Reservation Deposit”) or $150,000 for that 
Residence to maintain the reservation (less the $1,000 Priority List payment) and (iii) submitting an 
application for residency, which will be reviewed based on health and financial criteria for admission.  A 
copy of the Reservation Agreement is attached as Exhibit III.  All Reservation Deposits will be deposited 
and maintained in an escrow account that the Provider has established at a bank having a place of business 
in Connecticut, Wilmington Trust.  Individuals making Reservation Deposits will have the right to cancel 
their reservation and receive a full refund of the Reservation Deposit with interest, at any time.   
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If the project does not proceed to construction, all Reservation Deposits will be refunded with interest. 
Once construction begins, the Reservation Deposit will remain refundable with interest, and will be 
released to the Provider only when permitted in accordance with applicable law.   
 
When construction is completed and the Residence is ready for occupancy, each reservation holder will 
be notified about the move-in date.  At that time, the Provider will request an updated application and 
review it to confirm the conditions for residency continue to be met.  Before taking occupancy, the 
prospective resident must sign the Residence and Services Agreement, pay the balance of the Entrance 
Fee for the Residence and pay the initial Monthly Fee.  Any interest earned on the Reservation Deposit 
will be deducted from the initial Monthly Fee.   
 
As of the time of this filing. the Provider has reached the 70% reservation deposit milestone and is 
working to secure financing and begin construction in Spring 2025 with the current aim to complete 
construction in Spring 2027.  These timing estimates are subject to revision. 
 
PROGRAM DETAILS 
 
Termination 
 
The grounds under which the Resident and the Provider may terminate the Residence and Services 
Agreement and the procedures for termination and issuance of refunds, if any, are described in Sections 
8 and 9 of the Residence and Services Agreement attached as Exhibit I. 
  
Rights of Surviving Spouse  
 
A surviving spouse, who is a party to the Residence and Services Agreement, maintains all of his or her 
rights under that Agreement.  A surviving spouse who is not a party to the Residence and Services 
Agreement has any rights he or she may have under applicable law.  The refund due under the Residence 
and Services Agreement will not be paid until the Residence and Services Agreement terminates due to 
death of the surviving spouse, or for other reason.  The surviving spouse will pay the single occupancy 
Entrance Fee and the Monthly Fee.   
 
Marriage of a Resident 
 
Section 7.3 of the Residency and Services Agreement addresses the situation in which two residents 
residing in two separate Residences decide to live together, including situations in which the two residents 
marry.  Section 7.4 of the Residency and Services Agreement addresses the situation in which a resident 
wishes to live in the Residence with a person who is not currently a resident, including someone that the 
resident marries. 
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Disposition of Personal Property 
 
When the Residence and Services Agreement is terminated, personal property must be removed from the 
Residence within thirty (30) days after the termination date.  If a resident’s personal property is not 
removed as provided above, the Provider will store the property at the resident’s expense for up to six (6) 
months, after which time the Provider will sell the property and the proceeds (less expenses) will be 
credited to the resident’s account.  Payment of the Monthly Fee will continue to be required on a prorated 
basis until all personal property is removed from the Residence. 
 
Financial Hardship 
 
The Provider has established a policy whereby it will not terminate a Residence and Services Agreement 
solely due to a Resident’s inability to pay the total Monthly Fee.  When a Resident establishes facts 
justifying the need for financial assistance as determined by the Provider in its sole discretion, the Provider 
will advance funds to help the Resident pay his/her Monthly Fee.  If such advances exceed the refundable 
portion, if any, of the Entrance Fee, the Provider may waive some or all of the Resident's Monthly Fee if 
the Resident has not intentionally depleted assets needed to pay his/her Monthly Fee. 
 
Disposition of Interest on Entrance Fees or Other Deposits Held in Escrow 
 
As noted above, interest earned on Reservation Deposits will accrue to the benefit of the individual 
holding the Reservation Deposit and any interest earned will be credited toward the initial Monthly Fee 
payment.  Once the Residence and Services Agreement is signed and the Entrance Fee balance paid, 
interest will accrue to the Provider’s benefit.  Any refunds due to the resident upon termination of the 
Residence and Services Agreement will not include interest earned.   
 
Tax Consequences 
 
Payment of an Entrance Fee or other transfer of assets pursuant to a continuing care contract may have 
significant tax consequences.  Any person considering such a payment or transfer may wish to consult a 
qualified advisor. 
 
Financial Information 
 
Entrance Fees and Monthly Fees 
 
The Entrance and Monthly Fees for the Community are attached as Exhibit II.  
 
Pro Forma Cash Flow Statements 
 
The pro forma cash flow statements for the first three years of operations are attached as Exhibit IV. 
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Financial Statements of The Jewish Home of Fairfield County, Inc. 
 
The latest available audited annual financial statements for The Jewish Home for the Elderly of Fairfield 
County, Inc. are attached as Exhibit V. 
 
Statement of Anticipated Source and Application of Funds to be Used for Purchase and Construction of 
Community 
 
The current Statement of Anticipated Source and Application of Funds related to purchase of the real property 
where the Community will be located and construction of the Community, is attached as Exhibit VI.   
 
Reserve Funding and Escrows 
 
The Provider will maintain escrow accounts with a bank or make substitute reserve arrangements permitted 
by law once its obligation to do so begins.  By law, the Provider will need to cover one month of the 
Provider’s operating expenses (excluding debt service) and six months’ principal and interest payments on 
any first mortgage financing.   
 
Deposits received from prospective residents will also be held in an escrow account at Wilmington Trust 
until the deposits are permitted to be released in accordance with applicable law. Sworn Statement is attached 
as Exhibit VII, in which Wilmington Trust states that it has established and holds the required escrow 
account. 

 
DOCUMENTS FILED WITH THE CONNECTICUT DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL 

SERVICES 
 

The Provider has filed all materials required to be filed with the Connecticut Department of Social 
Services.  These materials include: 
 
1. A current Disclosure Statement. 
 
2. An index identifying the location of information required by law. 
 
All documents filed will be a matter of public record and may be viewed at the Department’s Offices 
located at 55 Farmington Avenue, Hartford, CT 06105 or on the Department’s website at:  Continuing 
Care Facility Reimbursement--Disclosure Statements (ct.gov).   
 

 

 

 

 

https://portal.ct.gov/DSS/Health-And-Home-Care/Continuing-Care-Facility-Reimbursement/Continuing-Care-Facility---Reimbursement/Disclosure-Statements
https://portal.ct.gov/DSS/Health-And-Home-Care/Continuing-Care-Facility-Reimbursement/Continuing-Care-Facility---Reimbursement/Disclosure-Statements
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RESIDENT ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

Pursuant to Connecticut General Statutes §17b-522(a) Mozaic Concierge 
Living hereby advises you that: 

(1) A CONTINUING-CARE CONTRACT IS A 
FINANCIAL INVESTMENT AND YOUR 
INVESTMENT MAY BE AT RISK; 

(2) THE OWNER’S ABILITY TO MEET ITS 
CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS UNDER 
SUCH CONTRACT DEPENDS ON ITS 
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE; 

(3) YOU ARE ADVISED TO CONSULT AN 
ATTORNEY OR OTHER PROFESSIONAL 
EXPERIENCED IN MATTERS RELATING 
TO INVESTMENTS IN CONTINUING-CARE 
FACILITIES BEFORE YOU SIGN A 
CONTRACT FOR CONTINUING CARE; 
AND 

(4) THE CONNECTICUT DEPARTMENT OF 
SOCIAL SERVICES DOES NOT 
GUARANTEE THE SECURITY OF YOUR 
INVESTMENT. 

I acknowledge that I have read the above statement and have received a copy 
of the Disclosure Statement. 

____________________________________________ 

____________________________________________ 
Date    Resident 

____________________________________________ 
Date    Resident 

____________________________________________ 
 Date    Legal Representative 

            (If applicable) 



9 
 

EXHIBIT I 
 

MOZAIC CONCIERGE LIVING 
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MOZAIC SENIOR LIFE 
 

RESIDENCE AND SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 
 
 
  



 

 

 

TJH SENIOR LIVING, LLC D/B/A 
MOZAIC CONCIERGE LIVING 

 
 RESIDENCE AND SERVICES AGREEMENT  
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RESIDENCE AND SERVICES AGREEMENT  
 
 

(Standard 90% Repayment Option) 
 

This Residence and Services Agreement (this “Agreement”) is effective as of 

________________ 20__, (the “Effective Date”) by and between TJH Senior Living, 

LLC, d/b/a Mozaic Concierge Living®, (the “Provider”) and 

______________________________________________________________________ 

________________________________________________ (“you” or “Member”).  (If 

more than one person is signing this Agreement, these terms refer to each of you 

individually, and to both of you together, and the rights and obligations of each of you 

are joint and several, except as the context of this Agreement otherwise requires). 

RECITALS 

A. Provider owns and operates a Life Plan Community known as Mozaic 

Concierge Living located at 210 Long Ridge Road, Stamford, CT 06902 (“Mozaic 
Concierge Living”).  Provider offers residency, care and services at Mozaic Concierge 

Living to people aged 62 and older.  Mozaic Concierge Living welcomes all eligible 

people and affords equal treatment and access to services regardless of sex, race, 

color, religion, national origin, disability, marital status, registered domestic partner 

status, ancestry, actual or perceived sexual orientation, or actual or perceived gender 

identity. 

B. Provider is a limited liability company whose sole member is The Jewish 

Home for the Elderly, Inc. d/b/a Mozaic Senior Life, a nonstock corporation that is 

exempt from taxation under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code.  

  

C. You have applied for residency at Mozaic Concierge Living and Provider 

has approved your application.  The purpose of this Agreement is to provide a 

statement of the services that Provider will furnish to you at Mozaic Concierge Living 

and other legal obligations Provider will assume for the duration of your life.  This 

Agreement also explains your rights and legal obligations to Provider.  



 

 2  

 

1. ACCOMMODATIONS AT MOZAIC CONCIERGE LIVING 

In consideration of the Entrance Fee, Monthly Fee and other fees payable by you 

under this Agreement, as defined in Section 5, Provider will provide you with the 

following accommodations and services at Mozaic Concierge Living for the rest of your 

life, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, including the cancellation 

and termination provisions:   

1.1. Your Residence 

You have selected Residence #_______ in which to live (your “Residence”).  

You will have a personal and non-assignable right to live in your Residence, subject to 

the terms of this Agreement and the Member Handbook, as amended from time to time, 

at Provider’s discretion.   

1.2. Furnishings 

Your Residence will include selected flooring, refrigerator and freezer with ice 

maker, range and oven, dishwasher, microwave oven, garbage disposal, washer, dryer, 

an emergency call system and a telephone/data communications port.     

1.3. Utilities 

Provider will pay for your water, sewer, trash collection, recycling, natural gas, 

basic cable, wireless internet access, property taxes and electricity.  You will be 

responsible for paying for all other utilities and service charges.  Premium cable, 

wireless telephone, and long-distance telephone service will be your responsibility.  

1.4. Alterations 

You may make alterations, additions, or modifications to your Residence, 

provided that (1) you obtain the prior written approval of Provider to make the specific 

alterations, additions, or modifications; (2) you agree to use a contractor approved by 

Provider; and (3) you assume sole financial responsibility for these changes.  All such 
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changes must be in compliance with applicable safety and government codes and 

regulations.  You or your estate will be responsible for restoring your Residence to its 

original condition unless Provider exempts you in writing from this requirement.   

2. COMMON SPACES 

You will be entitled to share with all other members the use of the grounds and 

common spaces at Mozaic Concierge Living subject to the guidelines outlined in the 

Member Handbook, which may be modified from time to time (see Section 10.4).  

Common areas to be available to members include space for dining, lounges, meeting 

rooms, wellness/fitness center, a swimming pool, and other common spaces provided at 

Mozaic Concierge Living.  These common spaces may change during your time of 

residence at Mozaic Concierge Living.  In order to be responsive to member wishes or 

for purposes of redevelopment, refurbishment, reorganization, demolition and 

reconstruction, Provider may elect in the future to eliminate, modify or expand common 

facilities at Mozaic Concierge Living.  

3. SERVICES 

The following services will be provided to you by Provider.  Unless otherwise 

specified, these services are covered by your Monthly Fee.  

3.1. Meals 

a. Dining.  Provider will make available a flexible dining program.  Three 

nutritionally balanced meals per day will be offered at Mozaic Concierge Living.  Your 

Monthly Fee includes a monthly dining credit of $750 that is equivalent to the dollar 

value of one standard meal each day. You may use the monthly dining credit throughout 

the month to purchase any meal at your discretion.  Dining credits must be used in the 

month of issue and may not be carried over into later months. There is a charge if your 

meal purchases exceed the monthly dining credit.  There is no credit for missed meals, 

except as provided in Section 5.5. Provider will accommodate, for an extra charge, 

reasonable special diets that are prescribed by your health care professional as a 

medical necessity and approved by Provider.  
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b. Meal Delivery.  Provider will provide limited meal delivery to your 

Residence during a temporary illness or during a period of an infectious disease 

outbreak at no charge, when approved by the Executive Director or designee at Mozaic 

Concierge Living.  In all other circumstances, there will be an extra charge.  

c. Guests.  You are encouraged and may invite guests to any meal.  Guest 

meals may be purchased by you or your guests and billed to you as an additional 

charge on your Monthly Fee invoice.  You may use your monthly dining credit to 

purchase guest meals. 

3.2. Weekly Housekeeping 

You agree to maintain your Residence in a clean and sanitary condition.  

Provider will provide scheduled standard housekeeping services to your Residence as 

described in the Member Handbook.  Additional housekeeping services beyond the 

scheduled standard services are available for an additional fee. 

3.3. Weekly Laundry 

Provider will provide scheduled standard laundry services for your bed and bath 

linens as described in the Member Handbook.  Your Residence will be equipped with a 

washer and dryer.  Additional laundry services beyond the scheduled standard services 

may be available to you for an additional fee.  

3.4. Maintenance and Repairs 

Provider will perform maintenance of buildings and grounds, including routine 

maintenance and repairs of your Residence and appliances.  Your Monthly Fee does 

not include the cost of maintenance and repairs of your Residence made necessary by 

carelessness or negligence beyond ordinary wear and tear, and those costs, if any, will 

be charged separately.  You are responsible for maintaining or arranging for the 

maintenance and repair of your personal property.  
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3.5. Activities 

Provider will make available various planned social and recreational activities 

both at and away from Mozaic Concierge Living. Provider will coordinate a variety of 

social, recreational, educational, and cultural programs for those members wishing to 

participate.  Specific programs will be based on members’ interest.  Members will also 

have the opportunity to organize other programs and events. You are encouraged and 

welcome to participate in such activities as you desire.  There may be an additional 

charge for some of these activities.  

3.6. Community Areas 

A variety of common areas and amenities at Mozaic Concierge Living are 

available for use by members.  Use of some amenities, such as the beauty salon and 

spa, require reservations and will involve an extra charge.  Provider may modify the 

availability and configuration of facilities and amenities from time to time.  

3.7. Transportation 

Your Monthly Fee includes scheduled transportation services to local 

destinations as determined by Provider and transportation to your appointments with 

professionals offering medical, dental, and other health care services within the local 

area and within designated times.  Transportation services outside the scheduled times 

and routes will involve an additional fee.  

3.8. Parking 

One assigned parking space is available per Residence and valet will be 

available for members and their guests.   You must have a valid driver’s license, 

insurance, and a currently registered and operational automobile.  Your use of a parking 

space at Mozaic Concierge Living is personal, and you may not transfer, lease, or 

assign your parking space.  Provider may make additional parking spaces available for 

an extra one-time fee and/or additional monthly fee, space permitting.  Recreational 
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vehicle parking will not be available.  Provider’s Parking Policy is described in the 

Member Handbook.  

3.9. Guests 

Provider must approve any guest who stays with you in your Residence for more 

than ten (10) consecutive days.  Charges for guest meals, services and 

accommodations are set forth in Appendix A.  Guests may not stay in your Residence 

when you are not present, unless you obtain prior written approval from Provider.  In no 

case may any guest stay exceed thirty (30) days in a calendar year without prior 

approval of the Executive Director.  From time to time, subject to availability, Provider 

may offer guest rooms at Mozaic Concierge Living for an additional charge.  Private 

duty aides are not considered guests and are not entitled to the same privileges as 

guests.  (See Section 4.7 regarding private duty aides.)  

3.10. Services Available at Additional Charge 

Services not specified in this Agreement may be made available, at the discretion 

of Provider, at an extra charge.  A current schedule of optional service fees is attached 

as Appendix A.  

3.11. Change in Scope and Frequency of Services 

Provider will strive to be responsive to the needs and desires of members 

concerning the scope and frequency of services provided at Mozaic Concierge Living, 

including determining which services should be included in the Monthly Fee and which 

services should require an additional charge.  Accordingly, Provider may make changes 

in the scope or frequency of services, including optional services, available at Mozaic 

Concierge Living or in the scope or frequency of services included in the Monthly Fee 

upon thirty (30) days’ advance written notice.  
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4. HEALTH CARE 

4.1. Observation 

Provider will remain generally aware of your health status to respond to your 

dietary, social, and special service needs.  You agree to keep Provider informed of any 

changes in your health status.  

4.2. Assisted Living and Memory Care 

If you need assistance with activities of daily living such as bathing, dressing, and 

medication management, including administration of medications, Provider will provide 

you with these services for an additional fee in your Residence.   If you need memory 

care, or a level of assisted living that Provider determines is not appropriately delivered 

in your Residence, you will be granted priority access to the Assisted Living or Memory 

Care residences over members of Mozaic Concierge Living who do not have a 

Residence and Services Agreement with Provider and those individuals who do not 

reside at Mozaic Concierge Living.  If there are no Assisted Living or Memory Care 

residences available or your needs exceed the level of care that can be provided in 

Assisted Living or Memory Care, you will have priority access to be transferred to the 

Mozaic Senior Life Bridgeport campus (“MSL Bridgeport”). If your needs exceed the 

level of care offered at MSL Bridgeport, or if there are no residences available, you will 

be transferred to a nearby outside facility of your choice.  See Sections 7.6 and 7.7 

below regarding additional financial terms when you receive temporary assisted living 

either in your Residence or in an Assisted Living residence, memory care in a Memory 

Care residence, or are permanently relocated to a designated Assisted Living or 

Memory Care residence.  

4.3. Skilled Nursing Care 

If you need skilled nursing care, you will be granted priority access to Mozaic 

Concierge Living skilled nursing residences (“Skilled Nursing Residences”) over 

members of Mozaic Concierge Living who do not have a Residence and Services 

Agreement with the Provider and those individuals who do not reside at Mozaic 
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Concierge Living. If there are no Skilled Nursing Residences available or your needs 

exceed the level of care that can be provided, you will have priority access to be 

transferred to MSL Bridgeport if Provider determines that your admission to MSL 

Bridgeport is appropriate. If your needs exceed the level of care offered at MSL 

Bridgeport, or if there are no Skilled Nursing Residences available, you will be 

transferred to a nearby outside facility of your choice.   If Provider determines that your 

relocation to the Skilled Nursing Residence is temporary, your Residence will remain 

available to you, and you must continue to pay your full Monthly Fee in addition to the 

daily rate for services that you receive at the skilled nursing facility. See Sections 7.6 

and 7.7 below regarding additional financial terms when you receive temporary skilled 

nursing care or permanently relocate for health reasons.     

4.4. Level of Care Determinations and Interdisciplinary Team 

All decisions regarding your care needs, the appropriate level of care, the 

appropriate location for the provision of such care, and whether your relocation from 

your Residence is temporary or permanent will be assessed at the reasonable 

discretion of the Executive Director, in consultation with you, the interdisciplinary team, 

your physician or physician extender (e.g. licensed advance practice registered nurse or 

physician’s assistant), and your representative, if any.  Provider will update your 

assessment annually, or as necessary to reflect a significant change in your condition, 

or to keep the assessment accurate. 

4.5. Medical Insurance, Medicare and Supplemental Coverage 

 If you are sixty-five (65) years of age or older, you will obtain and maintain in 

force at your cost Medicare Part A, Part B and Part D, or equivalent insurance coverage 

under a public or private insurance plan, including but not limited to Medicare Part C. In 

addition, you agree that before you move into the Residence, you will obtain and 

thereafter maintain a supplemental insurance policy if required in order to pay Medicare 

co-insurance and deductible amounts. If you are less than sixty-five (65) years of age, 

you will obtain medical insurance coverage equivalent to the coverage described in this 

Section satisfactory to us and provide proof of coverage we may request.  Any amounts 
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paid or owing to you from Medicare, federal, state, municipal, private, or supplemental 

insurance plans for services rendered to you by us shall be paid to us. You will seek 

diligently to obtain all reimbursements, payments, proceeds or other benefits available 

under such plans or programs and authorize us to take such action as may be required 

to obtain and recover same. 

4.6.    Physician Services 

You are responsible for engaging and paying for the services of physicians or 

other health care providers.  This Agreement does not cover physician services. 

4.7.    Private Duty Aides  

You may generally employ private duty aides at your cost provided that you 

require your private duty aides to agree in writing to comply with Provider’s private duty 

aide policies and provided any private duty aides that you employ actually comply with 

such policies.  For a copy of the Provider’s private duty aide policies, please contact the 

Executive Director.  

4.8.   Emergency Care 

In the event Provider becomes aware of an emergency, a staff member will 

respond and contact “911” emergency services.    Provider will attempt to contact your 

physician, but if this is not practical, Provider may arrange for your emergency 

admittance to a local hospital, or take any other action that is deemed appropriate under 

the circumstances.  In any case, you have the right to call 911 in an emergency.   

4.9.   Excluded and Non-Covered Services 

The following are examples of services that are not included in your Monthly Fee 

and are not part of Provider’s obligations under this Agreement:   

(1) care provided by individuals such as physicians, physician extenders such as 

advance practice registered nurses or physician assistants, private duty caregivers, 
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chiropractors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists, osteopaths, homeopaths, naturopaths, 

or faith healers;  

(2) ancillary supplies and services (such as prescriptions, drugs, medications, 

vitamins, eyeglasses, contact lenses, hearing aids, orthopedic and prosthetic 

appliances, bandages, oxygen, respiratory equipment and personal hygiene products);  

(3) durable medical equipment;  

(4) home care or home health care services, private duty aide services, and 

rehabilitation services;  

(5) hospital care and other acute care;  

(6) care that Provider is not licensed or equipped to provide or does not routinely 

provide;  

(8) any services or supplies that Provider determines, in its reasonable 

discretion, are not medically necessary;  

(9) cosmetic surgery or related cosmetic services or products;  

(10) experimental treatments;  

(11) organ transplants;  

(12) medical techniques not approved by the American Medical Association;  

(13) psychiatric or psychological care or services, including, without limitation, 

treatment of mental illness, behavioral or emotional disorders, nervous disorders, 

alcoholism, drug addiction, or chronic substance abuse; and 

 (14) emergency medical care not covered under this Section.   
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5. FEES 

5.1. Processing Fee 

You have already paid a ______________________________________ dollar 

($_________) Processing Fee to cover the administrative costs of processing your 

application for residence at Mozaic Concierge Living.  The Processing Fee is not 

refundable and not applicable toward your required Entrance Fee or Monthly Fees. 

5.2. Entrance Fee 

The total Entrance Fee for your Residence (the “Entrance Fee”) is __________ 

__________________________________dollars 

($_____________________________).  The first-person component of the Entrance 

Fee for your Residence at Mozaic Concierge Living is ________________________ 

__________________________________dollars 

($_____________________________) (“First Person Entrance Fee”). If applicable, 

the second person component of the Entrance Fee for your Residence (“Second 
Person Entrance Fee”) is ______________________________________ 

_____________________________________ dollars 

($_____________________________).  The deposit paid to reserve your Residence at 

Mozaic Concierge Living was ________________________________________ dollars 

($_____________________________) (the “Reservation Deposit”). This Reservation 

Deposit will be applied to your Entrance Fee balance.  The remaining Entrance Fee 

amount due, following application of your Reservation Deposit, is 

________________________________________ dollars 

($_____________________________). The Entrance Fee is payable by check or wire 

transfer and is due upon entering into this Agreement.  Any refund or repayment of your 

Entrance Fee will be governed by Sections 8 and 9 below.   

5.3. Monthly Fee 

a. Amount. You will pay a monthly fee for your Residence. The monthly fee 

applicable to single occupancy of your Residence, described in Section 1.1 is currently 
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__________________________________________ dollars 

($_____________________________) (“First Person Monthly Fee”).  If your 

Residence is jointly occupied, you will pay a second person monthly fee of 

__________________________________________ dollars 

($_____________________________) (“Second Person Monthly Fee”) in addition to 

the First Person Monthly Fee, and therefore your total monthly fee is currently 

__________________________________________ dollars 

($_____________________________) (“Monthly Fee”).  Provider may adjust the 

Monthly Fee for single or double occupancy in accordance with Section 5.3.c below.  

b. Payment Procedures.  You will begin paying your initial Monthly Fee on 

the date you sign this Agreement, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by Provider.  

Thereafter, you will be obligated to make payment to Provider by the fifth (5th) day of 

the month for which the fee is due.  You will be billed by Provider for the Monthly Fee for 

the next month’s care, services and accommodations at least fourteen (14) days in 

advance of the due date. Autopay will be made available.  Provider may charge interest 

at a predetermined rate, plus a late charge covering its administrative costs, on all 

accounts not current by the fifth (5th) day of each month.  The amounts and basis for 

imposing late payment charges and accrued interest on delinquent payments will 

appear on your monthly statement.    

c. Adjustments.  Provider may, at its discretion, adjust your Monthly Fee 

upon giving you thirty (30) days’ advance written notice.  Adjustments to the Monthly 

Fee will typically occur on an annual basis at the beginning of Provider’s fiscal year, but 

Provider reserves the right to make other adjustments as may be necessary. 

Adjustments will be calculated based on Provider’s projected costs, prior year per capita 

costs and economic indicators.  Such factors may include,  lender requirements and 

statutory compliance, capital expenditures, administration and staffing costs and fees, 

future operating expenses, cost of providing services, facilities, and amenities, costs of 

improvements, remodeling and replacement of the buildings and furniture, fixtures and 

equipment, marketing expenses, working capital, debt service, cost of contracted 

services, actuarial considerations, state and federal regulations, and changes in 
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contract services or other costs.  No notice will be required if a fee change results from 

a change in the optional services you request or require.   

5.4. Fees For Optional Services 

You will be billed for optional services either at the time they are rendered or at 

the time you are billed for the Monthly Fee.  The payment and adjustment procedures 

are the same as for the Monthly Fee described in Section 5.3 above.  A current 

schedule of charges for optional services is attached to this Agreement as Appendix A.  

5.5. Absence from Mozaic Concierge Living 

If you are absent from Mozaic Concierge Living for any reason, you will be 

entitled to a meal credit toward your Monthly Fee, provided you give Provider fifteen 

(15) days’ advance written notice of such absence, and such absence exceeds thirty 

(30) consecutive days.  The credit amount will be determined by Provider.  For health-

related absences, no prior notice is required.  

6. DEFAULT AND POSSIBLE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 

6.1. Termination for Failure to Make Payments 

You will be required to make all payments due to Provider in a timely manner and 

otherwise to take care of your personal financial obligations.  Your failure to pay any 

fees due under this Agreement may result in termination of this Agreement as described 

in Section 8.5.  

6.2. If You Encounter Financial Difficulty 

a. If you encounter financial difficulty that challenges your ability to pay your 

Monthly Fees and other charges, Provider will not automatically terminate this 

Agreement, if you meet the criteria for assistance described in Section 6.2.b.   If you 

suffer a material adverse change in your finances, you agree to notify Provider 

immediately.  You also agree to explore the availability of local, state and federal 

assistance and other public assistance programs and to apply for such assistance as 
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soon as you become eligible.  You further agree to provide any financial statements 

Provider reasonably requests documenting your financial activity in previous years.  

b. If you are still unable to pay your Monthly Fees and other charges after 

applying for and obtaining all available public assistance for which you are eligible, you 

may seek assistance from Provider, based on your ability to pay.  Subject to Section 

6.2.c., Provider may provide you with assistance if: (a) you prove that you have 

exhausted all efforts to receive other assistance, as described above; (b) you 

demonstrate an inability to pay your usual fees and charges; (c) you have not divested 

or wasted your assets to qualify for assistance; and (d) the deferral of such charges 

can, in the sole discretion of Provider, be granted without impairing Provider’s ability to 

operate on a sound financial basis.  

c. Provider will have no obligation to give you any financial assistance if you:  

(a) have impaired your ability to meet your financial obligations under this Agreement by 

transferring your assets for less than their fair market value (e.g., by making gifts, 

bargain sales, bequests, donations, or other similar transfers); (b) encumber your 

assets or otherwise dilute their value; or (c) inappropriately spend your assets (e.g., by 

spending down or irresponsible expenditure) before or after you are accepted for 

residency at Mozaic Concierge Living, which, in the reasonable judgment of Provider, 

impairs your ability to pay all charges you may foreseeably incur while residing at 

Mozaic Concierge Living.   You understand and agree that any deferral or subsidization 

of your Monthly Fees or other charges under this Section 6 may be treated as a loan 

from Provider to you.  All such deferred and subsidized charges, plus interest, will be an 

additional charge that you owe Provider, will be a first lien against your estate, and will 

be deducted from any refund or repayment that Provider may owe you or your estate 

following termination of this Agreement.  

d. As part of any alternative payment arrangement, you will be required to 

execute any instruments (including promissory notes, assignments and deeds of trust) 

that Provider deems necessary to evidence or secure its claim for repayments of any 

sums due under this Section.  
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e. You may be required to move to a smaller residence at Mozaic Concierge 

Living.  

f. You will be required to give Provider information about your financial 

condition, as described in Section 11.2, as a condition of receiving any financial 

assistance.  

7. RELOCATION 

7.1. Relocation of Residence 

a. Substitution of Residence by Provider.  Provider reserves the right to 

substitute your Residence with another comparable residence if it is necessary to do so 

to meet any requirement of law or the lawful order or direction of the Fire Marshal or 

another authorized public official.  Provider will provide you with thirty (30) days’ written 

notice before substituting your Residence, unless you agree to the request for a 

change, or it is necessary due to an emergency.  

b. Member Requests to Relocate.  Member(s) may request to relocate from 

one residence to another, subject to the terms of this Agreement, in accordance with the 

guidelines established by Provider.  If you request a move to a more expensive 

residence, you will be required to pay to Provider the difference between the Entrance 

Fees for the old and new residence at the time of your move to the new residence.  You 

will also be required to pay the monthly fee for the residence into which you are moving 

beginning on the date of your move.  If you request to move to a less expensive 

residence, there will be no refund of the difference between the Entrance Fee for the old 

and new residence at the time of your move to the new residence.  However, you will 

benefit from the lower monthly fee for the residence into which you are moving 

beginning on the date of your move.  If you move to a new accommodation of identical 

value as of the date you moved into your old residence, you will not be charged an 

additional Entrance Fee or be refunded any portion of your Entrance Fee.  You will be 

responsible for all your own moving charges. 
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7.2. Temporary Relocation 

Provider reserves the right to temporarily relocate you to another residence in the 

event Mozaic Concierge Living undergoes a major repair, or renovation that affects your 

Residence.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           

7.3. Joint Occupancy by Members   

 If you and another member, residing in two separate Residences, decide to live 

together, you may release either of your Residences and live in the other Residence, 

or you may release both of your Residences and move into a new residence subject to 

availability.  There will be no additional Entrance Fee charge if you move in with 

another member.  Both of you will continue under your respective current Residence 

and Services Agreements unless otherwise agreed to by you and Provider, and the 

member who has moved out of his or her Residence will receive a refund, if applicable, 

in accordance with Section 9.  If both of you move to a new residence, you will not be 

charged an additional Entrance Fee for the new residence unless the Entrance Fee for 

the new residence is greater than the sum of the Entrance Fees for residences 

comparable to your Residences at the time of relocation, in which case you will pay the 

difference.  Regardless of the relative values of your current and new residence, there 

will be no refund of your original Entrance Fee, or any portion thereof, at the time of 

relocation.  Both of you will continue under your current Residence and Services 

Agreements unless otherwise agreed to by you and Provider, and you will receive a 

refund, if any, of your Entrance Fee, including any additional Entrance Fee you paid 

when you moved to the new residence, in accordance with Section 9.  Whether you 

move in with another member or both of you move to a new residence, you and your 

joint occupant will pay the Monthly Fee plus the Second Person Monthly Fee for your 

new residence.  In addition, both of you will sign an amendment to this Agreement that 

states that one or both of you have elected to live in a different residence and that 

identifies the residence and the Entrance Fee and the Monthly Fee and Second Person 

Monthly Fee for that residence.  You will be responsible for your own moving and 

refurbishing costs. 
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7.4. Joint Occupancy by Member and Non-Member 

If you wish to live in your Residence with a person who is not currently a member 

at Mozaic Concierge Living (the “non-member”), including situations in which you marry 

a non-member, the non-member must follow the standard application procedures for 

acceptance to Mozaic Concierge Living, including payment of the Processing Fee. If the 

application is approved, Provider will, in its sole discretion, determine the terms and 

conditions of acceptance to Mozaic Concierge Living, including the type of Residence 

and Services Agreement to be executed and the payment of an additional Entrance 

Fee.      Your right to terminate this Agreement and your entitlement to any refund is 

subject to the terms and conditions provided in Section 9 below.  

7.5. Voluntary Relocation of One Joint Member 

If you jointly occupy your Residence, and you wish to live apart for any reason, 

including divorce or separation, either of you will be entitled to relocate from your 

Residence to a different residence at the appropriate level of care, if available.   

Provider will determine the terms and conditions of the permitted relocation, including 

any credit due and payment of an additional Entrance Fee, that will apply to the release 

of your old Residence and occupancy by you of your new Residences.  

7.6. Temporary Relocation for Health Reasons  

If you require temporary care outside of your Residence, you may retain your 

Residence during your absence.  In that case, you will be obligated to pay your full 

regular Monthly Fee and the applicable daily fee for services provided by the location in 

the Health Center where you are receiving care and any other applicable charges.  If 

you occupy your Residence with another member who is covered under this Agreement 

and one of you is temporarily transferred outside your Residence, the remaining 

member may continue to occupy your Residence.  In that case, both of you will continue 

to pay your normal Monthly Fee and the transferred member will pay the applicable 

daily fee for services provided by the location in the Health Center where he/she is 

receiving care plus other applicable charges.   



 

 18  

7.7. Permanent Relocation for Health Reasons  

a. Relocation of Single Occupant.  If you occupy your Residence by 

yourself and you require permanent care outside your Residence, you will be required 

to vacate your Residence within thirty (30) days after the Executive Director gives you 

notice that you require such permanent care.  If you do not vacate your Residence 

within the 30-day time frame, you will pay double your Monthly Fee on a pro rata basis, 

starting on the 31st day after the date we notify you of the need to permanently relocate 

until the date that your Residence is vacated.  If you transfer to the Health Center, your 

Monthly Fee will be adjusted to the fee that the Provider has determined will apply to 

transfers to the Health Center (“Life Care Fee”).  If necessary, you will also pay the 

Provider’s costs of storage of your furniture.  Even in the event of a permanent 

relocation to the Health Center, this Agreement will remain in effect until you or Provider 

terminate it under Section 8.  If you permanently relocate outside Mozaic Concierge 

Living, Provider may terminate this Agreement in accordance with Section 8.5.  

b. Relocation of One Joint Occupant.  If you occupy your 

Residence with another member and one of you requires permanent care outside your 

Residence, the member requiring care will relocate to the Health Center, or an outside 

facility, as appropriate.  In that case, the remaining person will continue to pay the single 

person Monthly Fee for your Residence and the transferred member will pay the Life 

Care Fee.         

c. Relocation of Both Joint Occupants.  If you occupy your 

Residence with another member and both of you require permanent care outside your 

Residence, you will be required to vacate and remove your possessions from your 

Residence within thirty (30) days after the Executive Director gives you notice that the 

second member requires permanent care.  If you do not vacate your Residence within 

the 30-day time frame, you will pay double your Monthly Fee on a pro rata basis, 

starting on the 31st day after the date we notify you of the need to permanently relocate 

until the date that your Residence is vacated.  You will pay Provider the double Monthly 

Fee until your Residence is vacated.  If necessary, you will also pay the costs of storage 
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of your furniture.  If you transfer to the Health Center, you will each pay the Life Care 

Fee.    If either or both of you relocate to a care center outside Mozaic Concierge Living 

other than MSL Bridgeport, the Provider may terminate this Agreement with respect to 

the relocated member(s) in accordance with Section 8.5.    

7.8. Grounds for Relocation 

Provider may relocate you to the Health Center or an outside facility, as 

appropriate.  In making this decision, Provider will consult with you and your health care 

representative, if applicable, as well as your physician and will take into consideration 

the appropriateness and necessity of the relocation, as well as the goal of promoting 

member independence.   

7.9. Temporary or Permanent Relocations 

The provisions in Section 7.6 or Section 7.7 will apply to your move, depending 

upon whether your relocation is temporary or permanent.  Your relocation will be 

deemed permanent if Provider determines it is not feasible for you to resume living in 

your Residence.  

7.10. Recovery 

If, after your permanent relocation from and release of your Residence, your 

health improves so that you are able to return to residential living, Provider will offer you 

the next available comparable residence.  You will pay the current Monthly Fee for the 

new residence.  You will be responsible for your own moving costs.  

8. TERMINATION 

8.1. Right of Rescission Period 

If prior to assuming occupancy you change your mind and you give us written 

notice of cancellation by registered or certified mail within thirty (30) days following the 

date this Agreement is executed by you (the “Rescission Period”), this Agreement will 

be automatically cancelled.   In such event, we will refund to you, within sixty (60) days 
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of your notice, all money transferred to us, without interest, less: (i) any applicable 

processing fee and (ii) any additional costs that we incur due to modifications in the 

structure or furnishings of the Residence that are made at your request.    You shall not 

be required to move into the Community before expiration of the Rescission Period.  
However, should you occupy the Residence during the Rescission Period, any money 

transferred to us will be refunded in full within sixty (60) days of your notice, without 

interest, except we will retain those periodic charges (including Monthly Fees) set forth 

in this Agreement which are applicable to the period of time you actually occupied the 

Residence and any nonstandard costs incurred by us at your request as described in 

any addendum hereto.  If you move into the Community and then cancel prior to the 

expiration of your right of rescission period, you must vacate the Residence within sixty 

(60) days after we receive your cancellation notice. 

8.2.  Automatic Cancellation Prior to Occupancy   

If, after the Rescission Period, you are precluded from initially occupying your 

Residence due to death, illness, injury or incapacity, upon written notice to this effect to 

us by registered or certified mail, the Agreement shall be canceled automatically, and 

you, your legal representative or estate, as applicable, shall receive a refund of all 

money transferred to us, without interest, less: (i) any applicable processing fee and (ii) 

any additional costs that we incur due to modifications in the structure or furnishings of 

the Residence that are made at your request.  Any refund to which you are entitled shall 

be made within sixty (60) days of our receipt of the notice of cancellation. We reserve 

the right to request a statement from your physician if the cancellation is due to illness, 

injury or incapacity. 

8.3.  Other Termination By Member After Rescission Period   

You may terminate this Agreement at any time after the Rescission Period for 

any reason by giving Provider one-hundred twenty (120) days’ written notice. If you 

already occupy the Residence when you give such notice, you will pay all applicable 

fees and charges until the later of (i) expiration of such one-hundred twenty (120) day 

period or (ii) the date by which you have vacated your Residence and removed all of 
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your personal property and belongings from the Residence and any storage areas. The 

effective date of cancellation shall be the later of (i) or (ii), as set forth above.  Your 

refund will be paid in accordance with Section 9 of this Agreement.    

8.4.   Termination by Death After Rescission Period 

          Upon your death (if there are two of you, the death of the survivor), this 

Agreement will automatically terminate.  Your estate will continue to pay all applicable 

fees and charges until all of your personal property and belongings have been removed 

from the Residence and any storage areas.  The effective date of cancellation will be 

the later of (i) your date of death or (ii) the date by which all of your personal property 

and belongings have been removed from the Residence and any storage areas.  Your 

refund will be paid in accordance with Section 9 of this Agreement. 

8.5.   Termination by Provider After Rescission Period 

         Provider may terminate this Agreement at any time after the Rescission Period, for 

good cause, by giving you one-hundred twenty (120) days’ written notice.  Good cause 

shall include, but not be limited to, the following:   

a.  Your failure to perform your obligations under this Agreement, including 

your obligation to pay the full Monthly Fee and other charges on a timely basis; 

b.  Your or your guest’s failure to abide by the guidelines of Provider, as 

contained in the Member Handbook, as it now exists or may later be amended, or as 

otherwise communicated to you; 

                      c.  Your or your guest’s creation of a disturbance within Mozaic Concierge 

Living or conduct that is disruptive or detrimental to others’ health, safety or peaceful 

enjoyment of Mozaic Concierge Living or that interferes with the functioning of staff; 

                     d.  Omissions or misstatements in your Application for Residency Form or 

any other application documents filed with or verbal representations made to Provider; 
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                     e.  Any material transfer of your assets or income for less than fair market 

value or material gifts made without prior approval from Provider; 

                      f.  Your failure to disclose information about your financial condition after 

being asked to do so; or  

                      g.  Your permanent relocation (for dual occupancies, the permanent 

relocation of both of you) from the premises of Mozaic Concierge Living. 

The effective date of cancellation will be the later of (i) one hundred twenty (120) days 

or (ii) the date by which have vacated the Residence and removed all of your personal 

property and belongings from the Residence and any storage areas.  You will continue 

to pay all applicable fees and charges following the expiration of the one hundred 

twenty day (120) notice period until such time as the Residence has been vacated and 

all of your personal property and belongings have been removed from the Residence 

and any storage areas.  Your Refund will be paid in accordance with Section 9 of this 

Agreement. Your Refund will be paid in accordance with Section 9 of this Agreement. 

9. REFUNDS 

You may be entitled to a refund or repayment of amounts paid to Provider in 

accordance with the following: 

9.1. Rescission Period and Automatic Cancellation 

The refund shall be paid as set forth in Sections 8.1 or 8.2, as applicable. 

9.2. Termination After Rescission Period  

If you terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.3, at any time after the 

Rescission Period, or if we terminate this Agreement for good cause at any time after 

the Rescission Period in accordance with Paragraph 8.4, the Agreement will terminate 

on the effective date of cancellation set forth in Sections 8.3 or 8.4 as applicable.  You 

will be entitled your Entrance Fee, minus an amount equal to the sum of (a) one percent 

(1%) of the Entrance Fee per month for each of the first five (5) months following 
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Occupancy, plus (b) a processing fee equal to five percent (5%) of the Entrance Fee, 

but not less than ninety percent (90%) of the Entrance Fee (“Entrance Fee Refund”). If 
the Agreement is cancelled less than five (5) months after the Occupancy Date, then 

the one percent (1%) refund reduction for the last month of the occupancy shall be 

prorate based on the number of days of that month preceding the cancellation of the 

Agreement.  You agree that we have the right to offset against the Entrance Fee Refund 

any unpaid Monthly Fees and other applicable charges owed by you as set forth in 

Section 9.3.    

9.3.     Payment of Entrance Fee Refund 

We will pay the Entrance Fee Refund to you, or your estate if applicable, without 

interest.  We will deduct from the Entrance Fee Refund (a) all unpaid fees and charges 

due under this Agreement, including any costs that we incurred at your request and 

unreimbursed Health Center charges advanced on your behalf and (b) the cost of 

replacement or repair of property that is damaged beyond normal wear and tear.  The 

Entrance Fee Refund adjusted by such amounts set forth above will be paid within sixty 

(60) days following the receipt of proceeds of the next entrance fees received by 

Provider for any comparable residential unit.  If there is more than one Entrance Fee 

Refund payable by the Community for comparable residential units, such payments 

shall be made in chronological order based on the date of receipt of your notice of 

cancellation, the date of our notice of cancellation, or the date of cancellation of this 

Agreement as the result of your death (or if there are two of you, the death of the 

surviving member).  Notwithstanding the foregoing and in accordance with Connecticut 

law, we will pay your Entrance Fee Refund no later than the third anniversary of the 

date this Agreement is terminated.  

9.4.      Effect of Double Occupancy on Refunds or Repayments   

If you share your Residence with another person, no refund will be paid upon the 

withdrawal, termination, or death of the first member.  If the remaining member elects to 

remain in the same Residence or in the Health Center, any refund due to the 
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terminating member will be transferred to the Entrance Fee account of the remaining 

member.  No cash refund will be made upon the first member’s termination. 

9.5.    Residence Upgrade Fees 

If you cancel or terminate this Agreement before your occupancy date and we 

have made alterations, additions of modifications at your request, we will deduct from 

your Entrance Fee Refund any additional costs that we incur for such alterations, 

modifications or additions at your request.  You shall not be entitled to any refund or 

repayment of such payments when you cancel or terminate this Agreement after 

occupancy, and Provider reserves the right, on a case by case basis, to require 

payment from you to restore the Residence to its prior condition.   

10. MEMBERS’ RIGHTS LIMITED 

10.1. No Real Property or Trust Interest  

This Agreement entitles you to occupy your Residence and to obtain the services 

specified in this Agreement.  You will have no estate, leasehold, or other real property 

interest in your Residence or in Mozaic Concierge Living or any ownership interest in 

Provider.  This Agreement shall not be construed to be a lease or confer any rights of 

tenancy or ownership to you.  You may not lease your Residence to any other person or 

allow any person to occupy it in your place.  All fees paid by you to Provider, including 

Entrance Fees, shall become the sole property of Provider and Provider has no 

fiduciary duty to you regarding the use of such fees.  These fees are not held in trust for 

your benefit.  All fees paid by you to Provider, including Entrance Fees, may be used by 

Provider for any purpose including refurbishment, remodeling or expansion of the 

community.  

10.2. No Interest in Financial or Other Assistance 

Provider reserves the right to apply for and receive all financial and other aid 

from federal, state, or municipal sources to which it may be legally entitled, and to apply 

for and receive aid or donations, by will, deed, or otherwise, from any source.  You will 
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have no interest in any such financial aid or assistance received by Provider, and no 

right to demand an accounting for such aid or assistance. 

10.3. No Security Interest 

This Agreement does not grant to you or to anyone else any security interest in 

any land, buildings, or other property owned or managed by Provider, whether at 

Mozaic Concierge Living or elsewhere.  You understand and agree that your rights 

under this Agreement are and will be subordinate to the rights of a secured lender under 

any mortgage, deed of trust, or other senior security interest that is placed on Provider’s 

property, now or in the future.  You agree that you will execute, upon request, any 

document required to implement or serve as evidence of such subordination. 

10.4. Member Handbook 

You agree to be bound by the rules and guidelines of Mozaic Concierge Living, 

contained in its Member Handbook, which is incorporated by reference into this 

Agreement and made an express part of it.  Provider may amend the Member 

Handbook from time to time.  By signing this Agreement, you acknowledge receipt of a 

copy of the current Member Handbook. 

10.5. Assignment 

Your rights and privileges to use and enjoy the residences, facilities and services 

of Mozaic Concierge Living are personal and may not be transferred or assigned by 

you, or by any proceeding at law or otherwise.  We shall have the right to assign our 

interests upon the sale or conveyance of the Community, or for purposes of any change 

of ownership of the Provider, and you agree to execute and deliver any instrument 

requested by us to effect such sale, conveyance or change of ownership, provided that 

by doing so you shall not be required to prejudice your rights under this Agreement.  

Any refunds to which you are entitled under this Agreement shall not be affected by this 

Section. 
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11. MEMBER’S REPRESENTATIONS   

11.1. Application Documents 

As part of your application to Mozaic Concierge Living, you have submitted an 

Application for Residency and related documents, which are incorporated by reference 

into this Agreement and made an express part of it.  You represent and warrant that all 

information contained in these application documents is true and correct, and you 

understand that Provider has relied on this information in accepting you for residency at 

Mozaic Concierge Living. 

11.2. Member’s Financial Condition 

At Provider’s request, you agree to give Provider information about your financial 

condition including, without limitation, financial statements and tax returns. 

12. MISCELLANEOUS 

12.1. Personal Planning and Financial Affairs 

Provider suggests that you execute a Durable Power of Attorney appointing an 

attorney-in-fact to handle your financial and personal affairs.  If you have executed such 

a document, Provider shall include this information in your record at Mozaic Concierge 

Living.  If you have not executed such a document and you become unable to handle 

your own personal or financial affairs, you hereby authorize Provider to apply to a court 

of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a conservator of your person and/or 

estate.  The costs of such application and appointment, if any, shall be paid by you.  

Provider also encourages you to prepare and execute a Living Will and Advance Health 

Care Directive, including Appointment of a Health Care Representative, for health care 

decisions in the event you become unable to make such decisions.  Forms of these 

documents are available at Mozaic Concierge Living.   
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12.2. Third Party Liability 

If you are injured as the result of an act or omission of a third party, you grant 

Provider a lien on any judgment, settlement, or recovery in the amount of any expense 

incurred by Provider in caring for you as the result of such injury that is not reimbursed 

directly to Provider by you or by another source.  You agree to cooperate in the diligent 

prosecution of any claim or action against the third party. 

12.3. Liability and Property Matters 

a. Liability in General.  You accept full responsibility for any injury or 

damage caused to others, or suffered by you, as a result of your own acts or omissions, 

and those of your guests or invitees, and you indemnify and hold harmless Provider and 

its directors, agents, and employees from any and all liability for such injury or damage, 

including attorneys’ fees.  You agree to maintain general liability insurance in an amount 

and form satisfactory to Provider to cover such liability, and to provide evidence of 

coverage.  Nothing in this Agreement limits either Provider’s obligation to provide 

adequate care and supervision for you or any liability on the part of Provider which may 

result from Provider’s failure to provide such care and supervision.    

b. Property Damage.  Provider will not be responsible for the loss of or 

damage to any property belonging to you due to theft, fire, or any cause beyond the 

control of Provider.  You are required to obtain insurance protection to cover the full 

replacement value of all your personal property at Mozaic Concierge Living, and to 

furnish Provider with evidence of such protection upon request.  You will also be 

responsible for any loss or damage that you or your guests cause to the property of 

Mozaic Concierge Living that is not the result of ordinary wear and tear.    

c. Property Removal and Storage.  Provider will have the right to remove 

and store all property from your Residence, at your expense, thirty (30) after you vacate 

your Residence on a permanent basis (for example, upon termination of this 

Agreement, permanent medical relocation, or death).   
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12.4. Right of Entry 

You agree that any duly authorized employee or agent of Provider will have the 

right, at all reasonable times, to enter your Residence as necessary for purposes of 

management, to provide services in accordance with this Agreement, enforcement of 

applicable laws and regulations, emergency purposes or any other reasonable purpose. 

Advance notice will be given except in an emergency.    

12.5. Damage to Your Residence or Mozaic Concierge Living   

a. Provider will maintain insurance, including property damage and business 

interruption insurance, in amounts and with coverages that it determines are 

appropriate, in its discretion.  If all or part of Mozaic Concierge Living is destroyed or 

damaged by fire or other loss, and if, in Provider’s discretion, the insurance proceeds 

are sufficient to rebuild Mozaic Concierge Living to its previous condition, Provider will 

have Mozaic Concierge Living restored unless then-existing laws or other 

circumstances would not permit prompt reconstruction and restoration or would make 

reconstruction and restoration infeasible.    

b. If Provider restores Mozaic Concierge Living and your Residence is not 

suitable for occupancy during such restoration, Provider will pay the costs of renting 

reasonably comparable quarters at or near Mozaic Concierge Living, provided that you 

continue to pay your Monthly Fees.  During the period of restoration, Provider will use 

reasonable efforts to find suitable housing for such period, but Provider cannot 

guarantee that such temporary alternative accommodations will be located at or near 

Mozaic Concierge Living or near any other members of Mozaic Concierge Living.  

Throughout such time and to the extent reasonably practicable, Provider will continue to 

provide or arrange for the services it has agreed to provide to you under this Agreement 

or appropriate substitutes, as determined by Provider.  You will continue to be 

responsible for the payment of your Monthly Fees if temporary accommodations and 

services are being provided to you.      
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12.6. Natural Disasters 

If Provider is required to evacuate members because of a threat or occurrence of 

a natural disaster, your then current Monthly Fees will include any costs of your 

transportation and lodging, subject to Section 12.5 above, that are not reimbursed by 

insurance. 

12.7. Interruption in Services 

An interruption in services or failure to maintain services under this Agreement 

will not constitute a breach of this Agreement, if the interruption is caused by factors 

beyond Provider’s reasonable control, including, but not limited to, acts of God, 

infectious disease outbreaks, strikes, lockouts, or other labor disturbances, government 

orders, acts of terror, embargoes, shortages of labor or materials, inclement weather, 

fire, flood, earthquake or other casualties, power outages or the conduct of members.  

In the event of an interruption in services, Provider will use reasonable efforts to restore 

the services or to provide substitute services. 

12.8. Notices 

All notices that you give under this Agreement must be in writing and must be 

addressed to TJH Senior Living, LLC, 210 Long Ridge Road, Stamford, Connecticut 

06905, c/o Executive Director. We will deliver any notices we give under this Agreement 

in writing to you at your Residence.  Such notices will be effective when personally 

delivered, placed in your mailbox, or when deposited in the mail, provided they were 

properly addressed with postage fully prepaid. 

12.9. Smoking 

Mozaic Concierge Living is a non-smoking community.  Smoking is not permitted 

in any location in Mozaic Concierge Living including your Residence or in the common 

areas. 
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12.10. Relationships Between Members and Staff 

The relationship between members and staff should remain professional.  Any 

complaints about employees or requests for special assistance must be made to the 

appropriate supervisor or to the Executive Director or designee.  Giving gratuities or 

bequests to employees or employee’s families is not permitted under any 

circumstances.  You agree not to hire Provider’s employees or solicit such employees to 

resign to work for you without the prior written consent of Provider to such arrangement.  

You agree not to hire any former Mozaic Concierge Living employee without Provider’s 

consent.   

12.11. Pets 

Pets may be allowed in your Residence. Refer to the Mozaic Concierge Living’s 

pet policy included in the Member Handbook.   

12.12. Entire Agreement 

This Agreement is the entire agreement between you and Provider, and it may 

be amended only by a written instrument signed by you or your legal representative and 

by authorized representatives of Provider.  This Agreement supersedes any promotional 

materials or other information given to you by Provider or any other entity.  The invalidity 

or amendment of any restriction, condition, or other provision of this Agreement will not 

impair or affect in any way the validity, enforceability, or effect of the rest of this 

Agreement. 

12.13. Waiver of One Breach Not a Waiver of Any Other Obligation 

The failure of Provider in any instance or instances to require your full 

performance or observance of, or compliance with, any of the terms or provisions of this 

Agreement shall not be construed to be a waiver or relinquishment of its right to require 

your full compliance with all of the terms and provisions of this Agreement.  The 

acceptance by Provider of your Monthly Fee or other charges due under this Agreement 

after your breach of any term of this Agreement, or after providing you with a notice of 
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termination, shall not constitute a waiver of Provider’s right to require your full 

performance of all the terms of this Agreement, nor shall it waive Provider’s right to 

terminate this Agreement for any breach previously committed by you.   

In the event that we take action to collect amounts due under or otherwise enforce the 

terms of this Agreement, you are liable for reasonable attorney’s fees and/or costs of 

collection incurred in connection with such action. 

12.14.  Governing Law   

This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws 

of the State of Connecticut.  If any portion of this Agreement shall be determined to be 

illegal or not in conformity with applicable laws and regulations, such portion shall be 

considered deleted and the validity of the balance of this Agreement shall not be 

affected. 

12.15.  Compliance with Laws 

Members of the Community will be afforded all rights and privileges under Conn. 

Gen. Stat. § 17b-520 et seq. and all other applicable laws. We will comply with all 

municipal, state and federal laws and regulations regarding consumer protection and 

protection from financial exploitation. 

                                  [Signature Page Follows] 

 



 

   

   

IN WITNESS THEREOF, Provider and Member have executed this Agreement as of the 
day and year written above. 
 
MEMBER(S): 
 
     
Date  Member 
 
     
Date  Member 
 
 
 
TJH Senior Living, LLC  
d/b/a Mozaic Concierge Living,  
a Connecticut nonprofit limited liability 
company: 
 
 
By:    
 
Its:   
 
Date:   
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APPENDIX A 
 

SCHEDULE OF FEES FOR OPTIONAL SERVICES 
 
 

[To be inserted once fees for option services are available] 
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EXHIBIT II 

ENTRANCE FEES AND MONTHLY FEES 

(Effective as of December 2024) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Unit Name Unit Type Square  
Footage

90% Refundable Range 50% Refundable 
 Range 

 0% Refundable 
 Range 

Monthly 
Fee 

SoNo 1 BR | 1 Bath 849 - 869  $874,900 - $923,900  $699,900 - $738,900  $525,900 - $554,900  $6,595

Cove 1 BR | 1.5 Bath 1053 - 1073 $1,086,900 - $1,140,900 $869,900 - $912,900 $652,900 - $685,900  $7,995 

Riverdale 1 BR | 1.5 Bath 1053 - 1073 $1,086,900 - $1,139,900 $869,900 - $912,900 $652,900 - $684,900  $7,995

Roxbury 1 BR | 1.5 Bath 1162 $1,198,900 - $1,234,900 $959,900 - $988,900 $719,900 - $740,900  $7,995 

Wilton 1 BR | 1.5 Bath 1094 $1,128,900 - $1,184,900 $903,900 - $948,900 $677,900 - $711,900  $7,995

Stamford 2 BR | 2 Bath 1189 $1,226,900 - $1,287,900 $981,900 - $1,030,900 $736,900 - $773,900  $8,495

Saugatuck 2 BR | 2 Bath 1189 $1,226,900 - $1,263,900 $981,900 - $1,011,900 $736,900 - $758,900  $8,495 

Pound Ridge 2 BR | 2 Bath 1286 - 1306 $1,326,900 - $1,392,900 $1,061,900 - $1,114,900 $796,900 - $835,900  $8,995 

Old Greenwich 2 BR | 2 Bath 1426 $1,471,900 - $1,536,900 $1,176,900 - $1,229,900 $883,900 - $921,900  $8,995

Ridgefield 2 BR | 2 Bath 1368 -1388 $1,411,900 - $1,474,900 $1,129,900 - $1,179,900 $847,900 - $885,900  $8,995 

Chappaqua 2 BR | 2 Bath 1396 $1,468,900 - $1,512,900 $1,175,900 - $1,210,900 $881,900 - $907,900  $8,995 

Westover 2 BR | 2.5 Bath 1520 $1,567,900 - $1,615,900 $1,254,900 - $1,292,900 $940,900 - $969,900  $10,395 

Cos Cob 2 BR | 2.5 Bath 1547 - 1567 $1,595,900 - $1,696,900 $1,276,900 - $1,357,900 $957,900 - $1,018,900  $10,395

Bedford 2 BR | 2 Bath 1459 - 1479 $1,505,900 - $1,571,900 $1,204,900 - $1,257,900 $903,900 - $943,900  $10,395

Fairfield 2 BR | 2.5 Bath 1675 $1,727,900 - $1,779,900 $1,383,900 - $1,424,900 $1,036,900 - $1,068,900  $10,995 

Westport 2 BR | 2.5 Bath 1889 $1,948,900 - $1,987,900 $1,558,900 - $1,590,900 $1,169,900 - $1,192,900  $12,095 

New Canaan 2 BR | 2.5 Bath 2178 - 2198 $2,246,900 - $2,335,900 $1,797,900 - $1,868,900 $1,348,900 - $1,401,900  $12,995 

Second Person Fee $79,000 $63,500 $47,500  $1,900 

STANDARD 
 RESIDENCE PRICING

mozaicconciergeliving.org 

210 Long Ridge Road  |  Stamford, CT 06902  |  203-396-1140

Square footage and fees are approximate and subject to change without notice. 

 



Unit Name Unit Type Square 
Footage 

90% Refundable Range 50% Refundable 
Range

0% Refundable 
 Range

 Monthly   
 Fee 

Shippan 2 BR | 2 Bath 1417 $1,491,900 - $1,536,900 $1,193,900 - $1,229,900 $895,900 - $921,900  $8,995 

Scarsdale 2 BR | 2.5 Bath 1549 - 1569 $1,630,900 - $1,700,900 $1,305,900 - $1,360,900 $978,900 - $1,020,900  $10,395 

Darien 2 BR | 2.5 Bath 1655 - 1675 $1,763,900 - $1,815,900 $1,410,900 - $1,452,900 $1,057,900 - $1,089,900  $10,995 

Rye 2 BR | 2.5 Bath 1818 - 1838 $1,913,900 - $1,992,900 $1,531,900 - $1,594,900 $1,148,900 - $1,195,900  $12,095 

Greenwich 2 BR | 2.5 Bath 2045 $2,152,900 - $2,217,900 $1,721,900 - $1,774,900 $1,291,900 - $1,330,900  $12,995 

Second Person Fee $79,000 $63,500 $47,500  $1,900 

STANDARD 
 MANOR RESIDENCE PRICING

mozaicconciergeliving.org 

210 Long Ridge Road  |  Stamford, CT 06902  |  203-396-1140

Square footage and fees are approximate and subject to change without notice. 
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EXHIBIT III 

RESERVATION AGREEMENT  
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Mozaic Concierge Living 

RESERVATION AGREEMENT 
 
This Reservation Agreement (the “Agreement”), effective as of the date set forth 
on Addendum A, is by and between the person(s) identified on Addendum A as “-
Member” (individually and collectively referred to as “you,” “your,” or 
“Member”) and TJH Senior Living, LLC., a Connecticut limited liability company 
d/b/a Mozaic Concierge Living (“we,” “us,” “our,” or “Provider”). 
 
We are the developer of a continuing care retirement community in Stamford, 
Connecticut known as Mozaic Concierge Living (the “Community”) and are 
affiliated with The Jewish Home for the Elderly of Fairfield, Inc. d/b/a Mozaic Senior 
Life (“Mozaic Senior Life”).  The Community will include residential apartments, 
common areas, and a health center consisting of assisted living units, memory 
support units, and a skilled nursing center (collectively, the “Health Center”) and 
will provide comprehensive programming including hospitality, residential living, 
amenities, services, and personal assistance and health care services. 
 
You desire to reserve the residence identified in Addendum A (the “Residence”) 
and upon completion of construction of the Community, to become a member of 
the Community. 
 
Therefore, Member and Provider agree as follows: 
 
1. Disclosure Statement You have received a copy of the Mozaic Concierge 

Living Disclosure Statement (the “Disclosure Statement”) for the Community, 
which includes the Residence and Services Agreement that describes the 
services and amenities that we will make available to you upon occupancy (the 
“Residence and Services Agreement”).  By signing this Agreement, you 
acknowledge receipt of the Disclosure Statement inclusive of the Residence 
and Services Agreement. 

 
2. Reservation of Residence Upon signing this Agreement, you will pay the 

Reservation Deposit to reserve the Residence.  The Reservation Deposit shall 
be equal to the lesser of ten percent (10%) of the Entrance Fee or $150,000.  
If applicable, the $1,000 Priority Fee paid, will be credited to the Reservation 
Deposit.  You agree to pay in full the remaining balance of the Entrance Fee 
upon signing the Residence and Services Agreement prior to the date on which 
you occupy the Residence.  Addendum A specifies the Reservation Deposit for 
your Residence, the Priority Fee credit, if applicable, and the remaining balance 
to be paid upon signing the Residence and Services Agreement.  

 
3. Reservation Procedures Upon signing this Agreement, you have submitted 

an application for residency in the form included in the Disclosure Statement, 
or such other form as we may specify (the “Application for Residency”). We 
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will hold that information in confidence and will use it only for the purpose 
described in this paragraph. The Residence and Services Agreement outlines 
the health and financial conditions required to qualify for residence at the 
Community. Based on our review of your Application for Residency, we will 
determine whether you meet the conditions for residency at the Community, 
and we will notify you as to that determination. You agree that our determination 
is final and binding.  If you do not meet the qualifications for residency, Mozaic 
Concierge Living will work with you to find placement to fit your needs, 
potentially through a fee for service agreement. If you will not be taking 
occupancy at Mozaic Concierge Living, you will receive a refund of your 
Reservation Deposit in accordance with Section 10 below. Prior to execution 
of the Residency and Services Agreement, you agree to update the Application 
for Residency. If, upon review of the updated Application for Residency, we 
determine, in our sole discretion, that you no longer meet the health and 
financial conditions required to qualify for residence at the Community, we will 
terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 10. 

 
 You certify to us that all information reflected on your Application for Residency, 

which is hereby incorporated by reference and made a part of this Agreement, 
including all personal financial data, is complete and accurate. 

 
4. Occupancy Date We will give you at least 60 days advance written notice of 

the date we anticipate your Residence will be ready for occupancy. Your 
“Occupancy Date” is the earlier of the date you move into the Community or 
the date specified for your move into the Community, which shall, unless 
otherwise agreed to by us in our sole discretion, be on a date falling within the 
sixty (60) day period following the “Residence Availability Date.” The 
Residence Availability Date is the date that we specify in writing to you as the 
date that the Residence will be available for occupancy. The Residence 
Availability Date will be at least sixty (60) days following your receipt of written 
notice after the date that a temporary certificate of occupancy has been issued 
for the residential living units of which the Residence is a part and the material 
common areas to be utilized in conjunction with the Residence. 

 
5. Entrance Fee The Entrance Fee and terms of the refund of  

the Entrance Fee are described more fully in the Residence and Services 
Agreement. The Entrance Fee applicable to the Residence (and the Second 
Person Entrance Fee, if applicable) is set forth in Addendum A. 

 
6. Monthly Fee In addition to the Entrance Fee, you agree to pay a Monthly Fee. 

The initial Monthly Fee for the Residence and the Second Person Monthly Fee, 
if a second person occupies the Residence, referred to collectively as the 
“Monthly Fee,” are set forth in Addendum A. The Monthly Fee is due beginning 
on the Occupancy Date, unless we otherwise agree in writing.  
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7. Escrow of Reservation Deposit  Subject to the terms of this Section, we will 
place and maintain the Reservation Deposit in an escrow account held at 
Wilmington Trust, as and to the extent required by Connecticut law.Once you 
sign the Residence and Services Agreement, the release of funds that may 
remain in escrow at that time will be governed by the Residence and Services 
Agreement and applicable Connecticut law. Your check for the Reservation 
Deposit shall be made payable to TJH Senior Living, LLC.  Interest on earnings 
will accrue on your Reservation Deposit from the date the check is deposited 
until the Occupancy Date, at such rate as is earned on the escrow account. 
Such interest will be credited to you in the form of a credit against the initial 
Monthly Fee payment.   

 
8. Cancellation If you are precluded from continuing your reservation on account 

of death, illness, injury or incapacity your reservation will be cancelled 
automatically upon receipt of a written notice. If you wish to withdraw your 
reservation for any other reason, you must provide us with written notice of 
cancellation through registered or certified mail. Within thirty (30) days of 
receipt of the notice of automatic or voluntary cancellation, we will refund the 
Reservation Deposit with interest earned from the date of deposit until the date 
of your notice of cancellation. As an alternative to automatic cancellation prior 
to opening of the Community, you may request admission to Mozaic Senior 
Life’s skilled nursing, assisted living or memory care residences, which are 
located on the Mozaic Senior Life campus in Bridgeport, Connecticut. Such 
admission shall be processed in accordance with Mozaic Senior Life’s 
admissions policies, procedures, and criteria, and any federal or state laws 
applicable at that time. For an automatic cancellation that occurs immediately 
before or after opening of the Community, you may elect admission to the 
Health Center at the appropriate level of care, as determined by Provider, in 
accordance with the terms and conditions that apply at that time to direct 
admissions into the Health Center.  
 

9. Notices Any notice that you provide under Section 8 of this Agreement shall 
be provided in writing to: 

 
TJH Senior Living 
Attn: Andrew Banoff 
Re: Reservation Cancellation 
c/o Mozaic Senior Life 
4200 Park Avenue 
Bridgeport, CT 06604 
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10. Owner Termination If we terminate this Agreement, we will provide written 
notice of the termination and your sole remedy shall be the return of the 
Reservation Deposit with interest earned on the account from the date of the 
deposit until the date of termination. The refund will be paid within thirty (30) 
days of our written termination notice.   

 
11. Agreement to Execute Residence and Service Agreement By signing this 

Agreement, you agree to execute the Residence and Services Agreement at a 
time that we deem appropriate (unless the Reservation Agreement is cancelled 
voluntarily or involuntary) prior to the Occupancy Date, provided that we 
determine that you qualify for residence at such time following review of your 
updated application pursuant to Section 3 above. On the date you sign the 
Residence and Services Agreement, this Agreement will automatically 
terminate, and the terms of the Residence and Services Agreement will 
supersede this Agreement. You may not occupy the Residence and will not be 
entitled to any services and benefits of residency until the Residence and 
Services Agreement has been signed, we have determined that you meet the 
health and financial conditions of acceptance into the Community based on  
the updated application, the Entrance Fee has been paid in full, and you have 
begun paying the initial Monthly Fee. 

 
12. Pre-Sale Requirement for Commencement of Construction You 

understand that before we can begin construction of the Community, seventy 
percent (70%) of the proposed units must be pre-sold.  A unit is considered 
“pre-sold” if a prospective resident has signed a Reservation Agreement and 
provided a deposit equal to ten percent (10%) or $150,000 (whichever is lesser) 
of the Entrance Fee for the selected unit.     
 

13. Other Agreements and Amendments This Agreement contains the entire 
agreement between Member and Provider as of this date and supersedes any 
prior oral or written agreements relating to residence at the Community. This 
Agreement may not be amended or added to except by an agreement in writing 
signed by both the Member and the Provider and attached to this Agreement. 
 

14. Assignment Your rights under this Agreement may not be transferred or 
assigned to any other person. 
 

15. Governing Law This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Connecticut.  

 
 
 

[Signature Page Follows] 
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IN WITNESS THEREOF, Provider and Member have executed this Agreement, 
and the Reservation Deposit has been paid as of the day and year written above. 

 
 
 

_____________________________________    
Mozaic Concierge Living Marketing Representative  
 
Member(s): 
 
Signature: _____________________ Printed Name _______________________ 
 
Signature: _____________________ Printed Name _______________________ 
 
_______________________________________ 
Current Street Address 
 
_______________________________________ 
City, State, Zip 
 
 
      TJH Senior Living, LLC 

A Connecticut limited liability company 
 
            
      _______________________________ 

By: Andrew H. Banoff 
      As its: President & CEO 

 



  

Addendum A 
 

Effective Date     ______________________ 

Member(s)      ______________________ 

       ______________________ 

Residence                 ______________________ 

Residence Style     ______________________ 

First Person Entrance Fee   $___________ 

Second Person Entrance Fee (if applicable) $___________ 

Total Entrance Fee     $___________  
    
Priority Deposit     $___________ Date Paid _____ 

Reservation Deposit  
to be paid upon execution of Reservation  
Agreement equal to the lesser of ten percent  
(10%) of Entrance Fee Required, or $150,000, 
less $1,000 Priority Fee, if applicable  $___________ Date Paid _____ 
 
Processing Fee     $___________ Date Paid _____ 

Balance of Entrance Fee Due  
(to be paid as set forth in the Residency  
and Services Agreement)    $___________ 
 
First Person Monthly Fee    $___________, per month 
 
Second Person Monthly Fee (if applicable) $___________, per month 
 
Monthly Fee (Total)    $___________, per month 

 
Refundability Plan      90%     50%     0% 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

Receipt of Deposit  
 

TJH Senior Living, LLC hereby provides a receipt of the Reservation Deposit. A 
copy of this receipt will be delivered to the escrow agent together with the funds to 
be held by the escrow agent. 
 
Name of Member(s):     Address of Member(s): 
_____________________________ _____________________________ 
_____________________________ _____________________________ 
 
Name and address of person paying the Reservation Deposit if someone other 
than the Member: 
_____________________________ _____________________________ 
_____________________________ _____________________________ 
 
Date of Receipt of Reservation Deposit by Provider: _________________, 20___ 
 
Date of Execution of Reservation Agreement: ______________________, 20___ 
 
Amount of Reservation Deposit: $________________________ 
 
Upon TJH Senior Living’s receipt of the Reservation Deposit in the total amount 
stated in this Receipt of Deposit, TJH Senior Living shall sign this Receipt of 
Deposit and mail or deliver the signed Receipt of Deposit to the Member to confirm 
TJH Senior Living's receipt of the Reservation Deposit.   The Reservation Deposit 
will be held in escrow in accordance with the Reservation Deposit and Entrance 
Fee Escrow Agreement, dated __________, 20___, between Provider and Escrow 
Agent.    
 
Dated this _________________ day of _________________________ ,20___ 
 
 
      TJH Senior Living, LLC 

A Connecticut limited liability company  
 
_____________________________ 
      
By: Roger F. Sliby 

      As its: Chief Financial Officer 
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EXHIBIT IV 

PROFORMA CASH FLOW STATEMENTS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Mozaic Concierge Living
CCRC
Pro Forma Analysis

Summary Year 1 Year 2 Year 3

Average Occupancy
IL - First Person 19.30 105.58 147.27
IL - Second Person 11.58 61.24 82.47
AL - First Person 2.08 10.40 12.93
AL - Second Person 0.10 0.52 0.65
MC 2.08 10.40 12.93
SNF 2.06 10.28 12.80

Revenue

Occupancy Revenue 2,629,444        18,304,872         26,546,110        
Other Ancillary Income (22,312)            187,684              207,300             

Total Projected Revenue 2,607,131        18,492,557         26,753,410        

Expenses

Operational Expenses
Health Care (1,697,586)       (3,244,980)          (3,766,208)         
Dining (1,239,078)       (2,981,575)          (3,811,403)         
Admin/Insurance/Taxes (4,900,057)       (6,082,810)          (6,290,702)         
Maintenance/Utilities/Housekeeping (1,400,528)       (2,757,556)          (3,099,594)         
Marketing (202,873)          (358,216)             (791,055)            
Management Services (324,597)          (1,109,553)          (1,605,205)         
Total Expenses (9,764,718)       (16,534,691)        (19,364,166)       

Net Operating Margin (7,157,587)       1,957,866           7,389,244          

Other Cash Inflows/Outflows
Interest Income 1,209,432        2,050,052           1,637,874          
Debt Service (Incl Principal + Interest) (1,689,869)       (16,521,684)        (11,229,591)       
Capital Expenditures (100,000)          (150,000)             (200,000)            
Other Cash Inflows/Outflows Total (580,437)          (14,621,632)        (9,791,717)         

Net Entrance Fee Receipts 258,149           1,956,193           4,949,827          

Net Cash Flow From Operations (7,479,875)       (10,707,573)        2,547,354          

Working Capital Fund Receipts 7,479,875        10,707,573         -                    

Net Cash Flow -                  -                     2,547,354          

Key Assumptions
Total IL Move-Outs 0.63                3.26                   8.88                   

Days of Care
   AL 798                 3,984                 4,957                 
   MC 760                 3,795                 4,721                 
   SNF 752                 3,754                 4,670                 
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EXHIBIT V 

MOZAIC SENIOR LIFE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
 
Board of Directors 
Jewish Home for the Elderly of Fairfield County, Inc. 
  d/b/a Mozaic Senior Life (formerly d/b/a Jewish Senior Services) 
 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Jewish Home for the Elderly of Fairfield County, 
Inc. (a nonprofit organization), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position 
as of September 30, 2023 and 2022, and the related consolidated statements of activities and 
changes in net assets, functional expenses and cash flows for the years then ended, and the 
related notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements referred to above present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Jewish Home for the Elderly of Fairfield 
County, Inc. as of September 30, 2023 and 2022, and the changes in its net assets and cash flows 
for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America.  Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  We 
are required to be independent of Jewish Home for the Elderly of Fairfield County, Inc. and to 
meet our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements 
relating to our audits.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and 
for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether 
there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about 
Jewish Home for the Elderly of Fairfield County, Inc.’s ability to continue as a going concern 
within one year after the date that the financial statements are available to be issued. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but 
is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements, including omissions, are 
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they 
would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we: 
 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 
audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. 
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Jewish Home for the Elderly of Fairfield 
County, Inc.’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the 
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Jewish Home for the Elderly of Fairfield 
County, Inc.’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.  

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal 
control related matters that we identified during the audit. 
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Supplementary Information  
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole.  The Consolidating Schedule of Financial Position and the Consolidating 
Schedule of Activities and Changes in Net Assets are presented as supplementary information 
for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the consolidated financial 
statements.  Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and 
relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated 
financial statements.  The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in 
the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain additional procedures, including 
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the supplementary 
information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole.   
 

 
 
Hartford, CT 
January 31, 2024 
 



JEWISH HOME FOR THE ELDERLY OF FAIRFIELD COUNTY, INC. 
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(FORMERLY D/B/A JEWISH SENIOR SERVICES) 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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2023 2022

Assets

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5,255,314$        8,195,924$        
Accounts receivable, net 6,232,924          5,230,470
Current portion of contributions receivable, net 305,786             214,838
Prepaid expenses and other assets 276,947             247,185
Entrance fee receivables 40,556               141,020
Agency assets - residents' trust funds 170,286             177,473             

Total Current Assets 12,281,813        14,206,910        

Property and Equipment
Land 5,000,000          5,000,000
Land - TJH expansion project 21,578,337        --                        
Buildings and improvements 92,838,179        92,566,507
Equipment 4,451,483          4,186,132
Computers and software 1,673,083          1,579,150
Vehicles 377,001             377,001
Construction in process 37,119               155,477             
Construction in process - TJH expansion project 5,025,987          913,599             

130,981,189      104,777,866      
Less accumulated depreciation 28,587,469        24,947,614        

Property and Equipment - net 102,393,720      79,830,252        

Other Assets
Investments 12,837,117        11,643,175
Assets whose use is limited under bond anticipation notes 9,246,089          --                        
Contributions receivable, net 720,525             482,608
Other 125,196             125,196
Interest rate swap agreements 837,202             --                        
Goodwill 380,000             --                        

Total Other Assets 24,146,129        12,250,979        

Total Assets 138,821,662$    106,288,141$    



JEWISH HOME FOR THE ELDERLY OF FAIRFIELD COUNTY, INC. 
D/B/A MOZAIC SENIOR LIFE  

(FORMERLY D/B/A JEWISH SENIOR SERVICES) 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED) 
 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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2023 2022

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable 1,474,597$        1,277,504$        
Accrued taxes, expenses and other liabilities 3,304,999          3,621,033
Contract liabilities 1,267,130          1,661,292
Current portion of notes payable --                        4,631
Current portion of bonds payable, net 2,446,667          2,343,333
Agency liabilities - funds held for residents 170,286             177,473             

Total Current Liabilities 8,663,679          9,085,266          

Other Liabilities
Bonds payable, net of current portion and debt issuance costs 44,910,650        47,315,167
Bond anticipation notes payable, net of debt issuance costs 30,155,440        --                        
Accrued interest on bond anticipation notes 2,968,840          --                        
Liability under split-interest agreements 137,799             146,833
Deferred revenue from entrance fees, net 4,862,636          4,486,777
Security deposits 107,000             --                        
Interest rate swap agreements --                        35,302
Accrued pension liability 367,927             759,431             

Total Other Liabilities 83,510,292        52,743,510        

Total Liabilities 92,173,971        61,828,776        

Net Assets 
Without donor restrictions 33,482,099        31,897,625
With donor restrictions 13,165,592        12,561,740        

Total Net Assets 46,647,691        44,459,365        

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 138,821,662$    106,288,141$    

 
 



JEWISH HOME FOR THE ELDERLY OF FAIRFIELD COUNTY, INC. 
D/B/A MOZAIC SENIOR LIFE  

(FORMERLY D/B/A JEWISH SENIOR SERVICES) 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Without Donor With Donor

Restrictions Restrictions Total

Operating Revenues
Resident care and services 51,412,796$    --$                   51,412,796$    
Community services 12,891,218      --                     12,891,218      
COVID-19 Relief Revenue 840,000           --                     840,000           
Other income 2,201,167        --                     2,201,167        
Net assets released from restrictions - operations 280,585           (280,585)         --                     

Total Operating Revenues 67,625,766      (280,585)         67,345,181      

Operating Expenses
Program services 61,773,527      --                     61,773,527      
Management and general 9,344,725        --                     9,344,725        
Fundraising 651,321           --                     651,321           

Total Operating Expenses 71,769,573      --                     71,769,573      

Loss from Operations (4,143,807)      (280,585)         (4,424,392)      

Nonoperating Income (Expense)
Contributions 3,509,976        485,588           3,995,564        
Change in liability under

split-interest agreements (11,256)           --                     (11,256)           
Net realized and unrealized

gains on investments 854,183           192,049           1,046,232        
Investment income, net 210,879           206,800           417,679           
Loss on sale of fixed assets (18,283)           --                     (18,283)           
Unrealized gain on interest rate

swap agreements 872,505           --                     872,505           

Net Nonoperating Income 5,418,004        884,437           6,302,441        

Excess of Revenues over Expenses 1,274,197        603,852           1,878,049        

Change in Pension Liability 310,277           --                     310,277           

Change in Net Assets 1,584,474        603,852           2,188,326        

Net Assets - Beginning 31,897,625      12,561,740      44,459,365      

Net Assets - End 33,482,099$    13,165,592$    46,647,691$    
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2022 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Without Donor With Donor
Restrictions Restrictions Total

Operating Revenues
Resident care and services 50,379,939$    --$                   50,379,939$    
Community services 11,463,045 --                     11,463,045      
COVID-19 Relief Revenue 840,696           --                     840,696           
Other income 1,939,911 --                     1,939,911        
Net assets released from restrictions - operations 473,418           (473,418)         --                     

Total Operating Revenues 65,097,009      (473,418)         64,623,591      

Operating Expenses
Program services 56,941,377      --                     56,941,377      
Management and general 7,037,186        --                     7,037,186        
Fundraising 734,433           --                     734,433           

Total Operating Expenses 64,712,996      --                     64,712,996      

Income (Loss) from Operations 384,013           (473,418)         (89,405)           

Nonoperating Income (Expense)
Contributions 1,143,633 443,949 1,587,582        
Change in liability under

split-interest agreements (16,392)           --                     (16,392)           
Net realized and unrealized

losses on investments (1,071,506)      (1,293,935)      (2,365,441)      
Investment income, net 32,505 172,133 204,638           
Unrealized gain on interest rate

swap agreements 75,987             --                     75,987             
Loss on disposal of construction

in progress (30,483)           --                     (30,483)           

Net Nonoperating Income (Expense) 133,744           (677,853)         (544,109)         

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues over Expenses 517,757           (1,151,271)      (633,514)         

Change in Pension Liability 744,395 --                     744,395           

Net Assets Released from
Restrictions - Capital 212,889           (212,889)         --                     

Change in Net Assets 1,475,041        (1,364,160)      110,881           

Net Assets - Beginning 30,422,584      13,925,900      44,348,484      

Net Assets - End 31,897,625$    12,561,740$    44,459,365$    
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Supporting Services

Program Management
Services and General Fundraising Total

Salaries and wages 30,550,740$    3,966,405$      351,498$         34,868,643$    
Employee benefits 6,912,150        872,959           77,943             7,863,052        
Depreciation expense 3,433,665        236,854           27,295             3,697,814        
Purchased services 8,324,151        95,481             3,944               8,423,576        
Interest expense 2,005,449        447,839           16,125             2,469,413        
Consulting and 

management fees 1,231,630        1,020,589        474                  2,252,693        
Medical supplies

and expenses 1,359,106        --                     --                     1,359,106        
Bad debt expense 360,930           --                     --                     360,930           
Occupancy 1,798,222        124,768           14,378             1,937,368        
Food expense 1,599,239        253,600           5,455               1,858,294        
Taxes 1,478,298        50,000             --                     1,528,298        
General supplies 1,128,776        410,130           53,691             1,592,597        
Information technology 631,196           67,831             23,603             722,630           
TJH expansion project --                     1,047,652        --                     1,047,652        
Miscellaneous 959,975           750,617           76,915             1,787,507        

Total Expenses 61,773,527$    9,344,725$      651,321$         71,769,573$    
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Supporting Services

Program Management
Services and General Fundraising Total

Salaries and wages 28,453,580$    3,535,969$      445,446$         32,434,995$    
Employee benefits 5,846,421        634,117           81,446             6,561,984        
Depreciation expense 3,404,979        236,251           27,225             3,668,455        
Purchased services 6,749,109        35,338             3,465               6,787,912        
Interest expense 2,088,116        144,882           16,696             2,249,694        
Consulting and 

management fees 1,214,051        995,571           452                  2,210,074        
Medical supplies

and expenses 1,196,171        169                  --                     1,196,340        
Bad debt expense 841,007           --                     --                     841,007           
Occupancy 1,786,858        123,979           14,287             1,925,124        
Food expense 1,452,841        350,393           314                  1,803,548        
Taxes 1,462,749        36,518             --                     1,499,267        
General supplies 1,010,297        367,519           39,649             1,417,465        
Information technology 438,253           38,902             22,197             499,352           
Miscellaneous 996,945           537,578           83,256             1,617,779        

Total Expenses 56,941,377$    7,037,186$      734,433$         64,712,996$    
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2023 2022

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Change in net assets 2,188,326$      110,881$         
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to 

net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 3,697,814        3,668,455        
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 18,283             30,483             
Bad debt expense 360,930           841,007           
Interest for debt issuance costs 350,062 42,151             
Net realized and unrealized (gains) losses 
   on investments (1,046,232)      2,365,441        
Proceeds from entrance fees 1,167,153        1,125,778        
Amortization of entrance fees (791,294)         (690,050)         
Unrealized gains on interest rate swap agreements (872,504)         (75,988)           

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (1,363,384)      (1,051,511)      
Contributions receivable (328,865)         (143,372)         
Prepaid expenses and other assets (29,762)           (29,216)           
Accounts payable 197,093           416,370           
Accrued taxes, expenses and other liabilities 2,753,270        755,382           
Accrued pension cost (391,504)         (577,805)         
Security deposits 107,000           --                     
Liability under split-interest agreements (9,034)             (5,551)             
Contract liabilities (394,162)         839,831           

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 5,613,190        7,622,286        
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2023 2022

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Cash outlays for property and equipment (4,681,228)$    (1,425,901)$    
Purchase of land for expansion project (21,578,337)    --                     
Purchases of investments and reinvested income (404,379)         (725,354)         
Proceeds from sale of investments 256,669           878,501           
Investments in assets whose use is limited (9,246,089)      --                     
Acquisition of home care business (400,000)         --                     

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (36,053,364)    (1,272,754)      

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Principal payments on notes payable and line of credit (4,631)             (199,368)         
Proceeds from issuance of bond anticipation notes 31,695,000      --                     
Payment of deferred financing costs (1,847,472)      --                     
Principal payments on bonds payable (2,343,333)      (2,246,667)      
Repayments of advances --                     (385,000)         

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities 27,499,564      (2,831,035)      

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents (2,940,610)      3,518,497        

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning 8,195,924        4,677,427        

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Ending 5,255,314$      8,195,924$      
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NOTE 1 - NATURE OF OPERATIONS 

 
Jewish Home for the Elderly of Fairfield County, Inc. d/b/a Mozaic Senior Life (formerly 
d/b/a Jewish Senior Services) (the Home) is a nonstock corporation under Connecticut law 
and a not-for-profit health care facility providing rest home and skilled nursing care, adult 
day care, licensed medical home care services and nonmedical home care services to the 
aged and infirm.  As of September 30, 2023 and 2022, the Home was licensed for 294 skilled 
nursing beds.  A substantial portion of the Home's revenue and related receivables is 
provided by Medicaid and Medicare programs. 
 
The Home’s auxiliary organizations include the Women's Auxiliary of the Jewish Home for 
the Elderly and the Men's Club of the Jewish Home for the Elderly (the Auxiliaries).  The 
Auxiliaries are incorporated separately; however, their principal function is fundraising for 
the Home.  The Auxiliaries do not have agreements with the Home and, therefore, their 
activities are not included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.  However, 
they continue to have a financial interrelationship with the Home. Related party transactions 
are included in Note 14. 
 
TJH Senior Living, LLC, and TJH Holding, LLC, were incorporated in 2009 as holding 
companies for potential business activities outside of the health care facility.  The Home is 
the manager of these companies and although they are separate legal entities, they are 
included as consolidated entities in these financial statements under accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America.  Since incorporation, TJH Holding has 
not had any business activity.  During the year ended September 30, 2022, TJH Senior 
Living, LLC began a project which entails the purchase of land and development of a 210-
unit senior living facility, comprised of independent living, assisted living, memory care and 
skilled nursing units.  Further information regarding the related debt and the project are 
disclosed in Notes 7 and 10, respectively. 
 
The Home, TJH Senior Living, LLC, and TJH Holding, LLC are collectively referred to as 
the Organization in the notes that follow. 
 
In March of 2023, the Organization underwent a rebranding, which included the filing of a 
trade name certificate with the State of Connecticut to change the assumed name from Jewish 
Senior Services to Mozaic Senior Life.   
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP), as 
promulgated by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB), utilizing the accrual 
basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis revenues are recognized when earned and 
expenses when the related liability for goods and services is incurred, regardless of the 
timing of the related cash flows.  The consolidated financial statements include the accounts 
and transactions of the Home and TJH Senior Living, LLC. Significant inter-company 
transactions and accounts have been eliminated from the consolidated financial statements. 
 
USE OF ESTIMATES 
 
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated 
financial statements. Estimates also affect the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.  

 
The Organization’s significant estimates include patient accounts receivable, fair value 
estimates, amortization of deferred entrance fees, recognition of COVID-19 relief revenue, 
the analysis of long-lived assets for impairment, charitable gift annuities payable, interest rate 
swap valuations and pension liabilities.  It is management’s opinion that the estimates applied 
in the accompanying consolidated financial statements are reasonable. 
 
NET ASSETS 
 
Net assets are classified as without donor restrictions or with donor restrictions to properly 
disclose the nature and amount of significant resources that have been restricted in 
accordance with specified objectives. Accordingly, the assets, liabilities, and net assets of the 
Organization are reported in two net asset groups as follows: 
 

NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS 
 
Net assets without donor restrictions consist of net assets over which the governing Board 
of Directors has control to use in carrying out the operations of the Organization in 
accordance with its charter and by-laws and are neither required to be held in perpetuity 
or purpose restricted by donor-imposed restrictions.  Board-designated endowment funds 
within net assets without donor restrictions were $244,120 and $126,550 as of 
September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
NET ASSETS (CONTINUED) 

 
NET ASSETS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS 
 
Net assets with donor restrictions represent contributions that are restricted by the donor 
as to purpose or time of expenditure and also include accumulated investment income 
and gains on donor restricted endowment assets that have not been appropriated for 
expenditure.  Net assets with donor restrictions also represent resources that have donor-
imposed restrictions requiring that the principal be maintained in perpetuity but permit 
the Organization to expend the income earned thereon for general purposes or purposes 
specified by the donor.  
 

NONOPERATING INCOME (EXPENSE) 
 
Activities other than in connection with providing healthcare services are considered to be 
nonoperating.  Nonoperating income consists primarily of income earned on invested funds, 
realized and unrealized gains and losses on marketable securities and interest rate swap 
agreements, change in value of split-interest agreements, pension liability, loss on disposal of 
non-operating assets and gifts and bequests. 
 
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES OVER EXPENSES 
 
The consolidated statements of activities and changes in net assets include excess 
(deficiency) of revenues over expenses.  Changes in net assets without donor restrictions 
which are excluded from excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenses, consistent with 
industry practice, include changes in pension liabilities other than net periodic benefit costs 
and net assets released from restrictions for capital acquisitions. 
 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
Cash equivalents include cash and highly liquid investments purchased with an original 
maturity of three months or less when purchased.  The Organization maintains deposits in 
financial institutions that may, at times, exceed federal depository insurance limits of 
$250,000 per depositor per bank.  Management believes that the Organization's deposits are 
not subject to significant credit risk.  The Organization has not suffered any losses in 
connection with its banking activities. 
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
 
Accounts receivable result from the health care services provided by the Organization.  
Accounts receivable are reported net of any contractual adjustments and implicit price 
concessions. 
 
The Organization estimates its accounts receivable based on its past experience, which 
indicates that certain patients are unable or unwilling to pay the portion of their bill for which 
they are financially responsible. The difference between the standard rates and the amounts 
actually collected after all reasonable collection efforts have been exhausted is generally 
charged off against revenue as an implicit price concession. 

 
ASSETS WHOSE USE IS LIMITED 
 
Assets whose use is limited include assets held in escrow related to the City of Stamford 
Revenue Bond Anticipation Notes.  These funds are available for costs associated with the 
project further discussed in Note 10.   
 
INVESTMENT VALUATION AND INCOME RECOGNITION 
 
Investments are reported at fair value.  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell 
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at 
the measurement date.  See Note 3 for a discussion of fair value measurements. 
 
Purchases and sales of securities are recorded on the trade date basis.  Interest income is 
recorded on the accrual basis.  Dividends are recorded on the ex-dividend date. Investment 
income includes the gains and losses on investments bought and sold as well as held during 
the year.  Realized and unrealized gains and losses on these investments are reported in the 
statements of activities and changes in net assets as increases or decreases in net assets 
without donor restrictions unless their use is temporarily or permanently restricted by explicit 
donor stipulations or by law.  These amounts are reported in the consolidated statements of 
activities and changes in net assets as increases or decreases in net assets without donor 
restrictions or net assets with donor restrictions as appropriate based on any donor 
stipulations or law. 
 
Investments and non-marketable securities in general, are exposed to various risks such as 
interest rate, credit and overall market volatility. As such, it is reasonably possible that 
changes in the values of these investment securities will occur in the near term and those 
changes could materially affect the amounts reported in the consolidated statements of 
financial position and consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets.  
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
 
Property and equipment acquisitions are recorded at cost.  Depreciation of property and 
equipment is provided using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the 
assets as follows: 
 
 Buildings and improvements 10 – 40 years 
 Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 – 25 years 
 Computers and software 3 – 5 years 
 Vehicles 4 years 
 
Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as incurred.  
Expenditures in excess of $1,000 for renewals and betterments are capitalized. 
 
GOODWILL 
 
During the year ended September 30, 2023, the Organization acquired a home care business, 
resulting in recognized goodwill of $400,000.  Under GAAP, the Organization was able to 
elect to amortize goodwill on a straight-line basis over a period of ten years or over a shorter 
period if the Organization demonstrates that another useful life is more appropriate.  
Goodwill is subject to impairment testing only upon the occurrence of a triggering event.  
The Organization elected to amortize goodwill on a straight-line basis over a period of ten 
years, commencing April 1, 2023, resulting in annual amortization of $40,000 through 2033.  
At September 30, 2023, accumulated amortization amounted to $20,000. Management has 
concluded there were no triggering events to subject the goodwill to impairment testing for 
the year ended September 30, 2023.  
 
IMPAIRMENT OF OTHER LONG-LIVED ASSETS 
 
The Organization records impairment losses on other long-lived assets used in operations 
when events and circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired and the 
undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are less than the carrying 
amounts of those assets. There was no impairment loss recorded during years ended 
September 30, 2023 and 2022. 
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
SPLIT-INTEREST AGREEMENTS 
 
The Organization has entered into several split-interest agreements whereby assets were 
transferred to the Organization and invested.  Under the terms of the program, contributions 
are received from donors in exchange for a promise by the Organization to pay a fixed 
amount for a specified period of time to a donor or individuals designated by the donor.  
Annuity contracts may be established for either one or two lives and provide that fixed 
payments be made to the annuitants for the remainder of their lives.  Upon termination of the 
annuity contract, any remaining assets revert to the Organization for purposes as specified in 
the charitable gift annuity contracts. 
 
On an annual basis, the Organization revalues the liability to make distributions to the 
designated beneficiaries based on actuarial assumptions.   
 
DEBT ISSUANCE COSTS 
 
Debt issuance costs are fees and other costs incurred in obtaining financing, amortized on a 
straight- line basis, over the term of the related debt which approximates the effective interest 
rate.  Debt issuance costs are presented as a direct deduction of the carrying amount of the 
debt.  Amortization of debt issuance costs is included in interest expense. 
 
PROMISES TO GIVE 
 
Unconditional promises to give that are expected to be collected or paid within one year are 
recorded at net realizable value. Unconditional promises to give that are to be collected or 
paid in future years are recorded at the present value of their estimated future cash flows.  
The discounts on those amounts are computed using risk-free interest rates applicable to the 
years in which the promises are received or paid. Amortization of the discounts is included in 
contribution revenue or expense. Conditional promises to give are not included in support or 
expenses until the conditions are substantially met. 
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
INTEREST RATE SWAP AGREEMENTS 
 
The Organization has entered into two interest rate swap agreements associated with its 
bonds payable.  The agreements effectively change the interest rate exposure of the bonds 
payable from variable rate to fixed rate.  The swap agreements became effective on May 1, 
2016, which was one month prior to the first principal payment.  The termination date of the 
swap agreements is May 1, 2026.  The differential paid or received on the swap agreements 
is included in interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of activities and 
changes in net assets.  The change in fair value of the interest rate swap agreements is 
separately shown on the consolidated statements of activities and changes in net assets.  See 
Note 7 for further information. 
 
AGENCY TRANSACTIONS 
 
The Organization provides residents with a service by which residents' funds are maintained 
in a separate account, the use of which is directed by the resident.  Such funds are maintained 
in a separate bank account and are reflected in the accompanying consolidated statements of 
financial position as agency assets - residents' trust funds with a corresponding liability as 
agency liabilities - funds held for residents. 
 
REVENUE RECOGNITION 
 
The Organization recognizes revenue at an amount reflecting the consideration to which the 
Organization expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to its 
customers using the following five-step process: 
 

1. Identify the contract(s) with the customer 
2. Identify the performance obligation(s) in the contract 
3. Determine the transaction price 
4. Allocate the transaction price to performance obligations in the contract 
5. Recognize revenue when (or as) the Organization satisfies a performance obligation 

 
See below for details on how the above five-step process is applied to the Organization 's 
contracts with customers. 
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
REVENUES FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS 
 
Resident care and services and community services revenue is reported at the amount 
reflecting the consideration the Organization expects to receive in exchange for the services 
provided.  These amounts are due from residents, patients or third-party payors (including 
health insurers and government payors).  Performance obligations are determined based on 
the nature of the services provided.   
 
Resident care and services and community services revenue is recognized as performance 
obligations are satisfied.  The Organization recognizes revenue in accordance with the 
provisions of Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 606, Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers (ASC 606). 
 
PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS 
 
At contract inception, the Organization assesses the goods and services promised in its 
contracts with customers and identifies a performance obligation for each promise to transfer 
to the customer a distinct good or service (or bundle of goods or services).  To identify the 
performance obligations, the Organization considers all of the goods or services promised in 
the contract regardless of whether they are explicitly stated or implied by customary business 
practices.   
 
The Organization determines the following distinct goods and services represent separate 
performance obligations: 
 

 Skilled nursing facility services 
 Assisted living services 
 Continuing care at home services 
 Home care services 
 Hospice services 
 Outpatient services 
 Other services 

 
The Organization satisfies its performance obligations for skilled nursing facility services, 
hospice and assisted living services upon completion of each day's service or as ancillary 
services are provided.  Patients receive care and room and board on a per diem basis and can 
also receive various ancillary services.  Residents are charged a daily fee for bed stay and 
services provided.  Fees for ancillary services performed are payable upon receipt.  Private 
room charges are due one month in advance. 
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
The Organization satisfies its performance obligations for continuing care at home services 
over time as benefits are transferred to the resident.  Because a member has the ability to 
discontinue paying the monthly service fee at any time, the agreement is viewed as a monthly 
contract with an option to renew.  Payment terms for the entrance fee are a fixed amount paid 
at the time the contract is signed and the member begins in the program.  The nonrefundable 
entrance fee is recorded as a contract liability and amortized over the estimated actuarial life 
of the member, which is re-evaluated on an annual basis.  The monthly service fee is set at 
the time of the contract signing and is fixed except for annual inflationary increases. 
 
The Organization satisfies its performance obligations for home care services upon 
completion of each session of service provided.  Medicare pays the Organization a 
predetermined base payment for each patient, adjusted for the health condition and care 
needs of the beneficiary.  Home Health Medicare services are paid under the Patient Driven 
Grouping Model (PDGM), which uses 30 day periods as a basis for payment. Each 30 day 
period is placed into different subgroups for each of the following categories: Admission 
source, timing of the 30 day episode, clinical grouping, functional impairment level, and 
comorbidity adjustment.  These factors are utilized to derive at the final payment of each 30 
day episode under PDGM.  Under PDGM, revenue is recognized ratably over the episode 
based on the beginning and ending dates which are a reasonable proxy for the transfer of 
benefit of the service. 
 
The Organization satisfies its performance obligations for outpatient services upon 
completion of each service provided. 
 
Performance obligations are determined based on the nature of the services provided by the 
Organization.  Revenue for performance obligations satisfied over time is recognized based 
on the estimated realizable amount earned for services provided.  The Organization believes 
this method provides a faithful depiction of the transfer of services over the term of the 
performance obligation based on the inputs needed to satisfy the obligation. 
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
TRANSACTION PRICE 
 
The Organization determines the transaction price based on standard charges for room and 
board and services provided, reduced by contractual adjustments provided to applicable 
third-party payors or discounts provided to uninsured patients in accordance with the 
Organization's policy. The Organization determines its estimates of contractual adjustments 
and discounts based on contractual agreements, its discount policies and historical 
experience.  The Organization determines its estimate of implicit price concessions based on 
its historical collection experience with this class of patients.  Agreements with third-party 
payors provide for payments at amounts less than established charges.  A summary of the 
payment arrangements with major third-party payors follows: 
 

Medicare - Certain skilled nursing facility services are paid at prospectively determined 
rates per discharge based on clinical, diagnostic and other factors. 

Medicaid - Reimbursements for Medicaid services are generally paid at prospectively 
determined rates on a per diem basis. 

Other - Payment agreements with certain commercial insurance carriers, health 
maintenance organizations and preferred provider organizations provide for 
payment using prospectively determined daily rates or discounts from 
established charges. 

 
Laws and regulations concerning government programs, including Medicare and Medicaid, 
are complex and subject to varying interpretation.  As a result of investigations by 
governmental agencies, various healthcare organizations have received requests for 
information and notices regarding alleged noncompliance with those laws and regulations, 
which, in some instances, have resulted in organizations entering into significant settlement 
agreements.  Compliance with such laws and regulations may also be subject to future 
government review and interpretation as well as significant regulatory action, including fines, 
penalties and potential exclusion from the related programs.  There can be no assurance that 
regulatory authorities will not challenge the Organization's compliance with these laws and 
regulations, and it is not possible to determine the impact (if any) such claims or penalties 
would have upon the Organization.  In addition, the contracts the Organization has with 
commercial payors also provide for retroactive audit and review of claims. 
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
TRANSACTION PRICE (CONTINUED) 
 
Settlements with third-party payers for retroactive revenue adjustments due to audits, reviews 
or investigations are considered variable consideration and are included in the determination 
of the estimated transaction price for providing patient care.  These settlements are estimated 
based on the terms of the payment agreement with the payor, correspondence from the payor 
and the Organization's historical settlement activity, including an assessment to ensure the 
probability of a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not 
occur when the uncertainty associated with the retroactive adjustment is subsequently 
resolved.  Estimated settlements are adjusted in future periods as adjustments become known 
(that is, new information becomes available), or as years are settled or are no longer subject 
to such audits, reviews and investigations. 
 
Generally, patients who are covered by third-party payers are responsible for related 
deductibles and coinsurance, which vary in amount.  The initial estimate of the transaction 
price is determined by reducing the standard charge by any contractual adjustments, 
discounts and implicit price concessions based on historical collection experience. 
Subsequent changes to the estimate of the transaction price are generally recorded as 
adjustments to patient service revenue in the period of the change. 
 
Subsequent changes determined to be the result of an adverse change in the patient's ability 
to pay are recorded as bad debt expense. 
 
The Organization has determined that the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue 
and cash flows are affected by the following factors: 
 

 Payors (for example, Medicare, Medicaid, managed care or other insurance, patient) 
have different reimbursement and payment methodologies 

 Length of the patient's service or episode of care 
 Line of business providing the service 

 
Other operating income includes food and service revenue, child care, fitness center and 
other nonpatient revenue.  This revenue is recognized on a monthly basis upon the provision 
of the respective service. 
 
The difference between the opening and closing balances of the Organization's contract 
liabilities from entrance fees primarily result from the timing difference between the 
Organization's performance and nonrefundable entrance fees received and/or amortized 
during the period. 
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
TRANSACTION PRICE (CONTINUED) 
 
The composition of revenues by primary payor for the years ended September 30, 2023 and 
2022 is as follows: 
 

Resident Resident
Services Community Services Community
and Care Services and Care Services

Medicaid 24,603,989$     48% 90,197$            1% 24,567,507$     49% 165,216$          1%
Private 16,483,862       32% 7,239,215         56% 15,549,614       31% 6,033,420         53%
Medicare 10,036,671       20% 3,214,987         25% 9,739,078         19% 3,480,525         31%
Continuing care members --                      0% 1,940,763         15% --                      0% 1,418,363         12%
Other third-party payors 38,274              0% 406,056            3% 523,740            1% 365,521            3%

51,162,796$     100% 12,891,218$     100% 50,379,939$     100% 11,463,045$     100%

2023 2022

 
Average occupancy was 98% for the years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022. 
 
CONTRACT LIABILITIES 
 
The Organization recognizes contract liabilities in relation to its private payor long-term care, 
assisted living businesses and adult day services.  The opening and closing balances of the 
Organization’s contract liabilities are as follows: 
 

Contract
Liabilities

Opening (October 1, 2021) 821,461$         
Closing (September 30, 2022) 1,661,292        

Increase 839,831$         

Opening (October 1, 2022) 1,661,292$      
Closing (September 30, 2023) 1,267,130        

Decrease (394,162)$        
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
INCOME TAXES 
 
The Organization has been recognized by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) as a not-for-
profit corporation as described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (the Code) 
and is exempt from federal income taxes on related income pursuant to Section 501(a) of the 
Code.  TJH Senior Living, LLC is a disregarded entity for tax purposes, whose sole member 
is The Home.  As such, all of its activity is reported on The Organization’s Form 990.  
Although it has not applied for a separate tax exemption with the IRS, TJH Senior Living, 
LLC is organized for charitable purposes and its activities further The Organization’s tax-
exempt purpose.   
 
The Home and TJH Senior Living, LLC account for uncertainty in income tax positions by 
applying a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for financial statement 
recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. 
Management has analyzed the tax positions taken and has concluded that as of September 30, 
2023 and 2022, there are no tax positions taken or expected to be taken that would require 
recognition of a liability (or asset) or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements. The 
Organization is subject to routine audits by taxing jurisdictions; however, there are currently 
no audits for any tax periods pending or in progress.  As TJH Senior Living, LLC is 
disregarded for tax purposes, its activity is reported on The Home’s Form 990, and is subject 
to any audits that affect The Home. 
 
FUNCTIONAL ALLOCATION OF EXPENSES 
 
The costs of providing various programs and other activities have been summarized on a 
functional basis in the statements of functional expenses.  Expenses that can be identified 
with a specific service are charged directly according to their natural expenditure 
classification. Salaries and benefits are supported by time records for specific services. 
Facility costs, including rent, utilities and insurance are allocated based upon square footage. 

 
General and administrative expenses and other indirect costs that cannot be specifically 
identified with any one service are allocated based on a percentage of direct and directly 
allocable expenses for that particular service depending on the nature of the expense.  All 
other costs are directly charged to the programs and supporting services they benefit. 
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the Organization has evaluated events 
and transactions for potential recognition or disclosure through January 31, 2024, the date the 
consolidated financial statements were available to be issued.  There were no subsequent 
events requiring recognition or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements. 
 
 

NOTE 3 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
 
GAAP established a framework for measuring fair value. That framework provides a fair 
value hierarchy prioritizing the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value.  
The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 
3).  The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below: 
 

Level 1  Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for 
identical assets or liabilities in active markets the Organization has the 
ability to access. 

 
Level 2  Inputs to the valuation methodology include: 
 

 Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; 
 Quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive 

markets; 
 Inputs other than quoted prices observable for the asset or liability; 
 Inputs derived principally from or corroborated by observable market 

data by correlation or other means. 
 

If the asset or liability has a specified (contractual) term, the Level 2 input 
must be observable for substantially the full term of the asset or liability. 
 

Level 3  Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to 
the fair value measurement. 

 



JEWISH HOME FOR THE ELDERLY OF FAIRFIELD COUNTY, INC. 
D/B/A MOZAIC SENIOR LIFE  

(FORMERLY D/B/A JEWISH SENIOR SERVICES) 
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2023 AND 2022 
 

26 

 
NOTE 3 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 
The asset's or liability's fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is based 
on the lowest level of any input significant to the fair value measurement. Valuation 
techniques used need to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of 
unobservable inputs. As a practical expedient, certain investments are measured at fair value 
on the basis of net asset value. The fair value of these investments are not included in the fair 
value hierarchy. 

 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE 
 
The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for financial instruments 
measured at fair value: 
 

Money Market Funds - Money market funds are valued at the quoted net asset value of 
shares held by the Organization at year end. 

 
Corporate Bonds - Certain corporate bonds are valued at the closing price reported in the 
active market in which the individual securities are traded.  Other corporate bonds are 
valued based on yields currently available on comparable securities of issuers with 
similar durations and credit ratings. 
 
Municipal Bonds - Municipal bonds are valued at the closing price reported in the active 
market in which the individual securities are traded. 
 
Common and Preferred Stocks - Common and preferred stocks are valued at the closing 
price reported in the active market in which the individual securities are traded. 
 
Mutual Funds - Mutual funds are valued at the quoted net asset value of shares held by 
the Organization at year end. 
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NOTE 3 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE (CONTINUED) 

 
Exchange Traded Funds - Exchange traded funds are valued at the closing price reported 
in the active market in which the individual securities are traded. 
 
U.S. Treasuries - U.S. treasuries are valued at the closing price reported in the active 
market in which the individual securities are traded. 
 
Hedge Funds - The fair value of the hedge funds has been determined using the net asset 
value (NAV) per share as a practical expedient and is not categorized in the fair value 
hierarchy. The practical expedient would not be used if it is determined to be probable 
that the funds will sell the investments for an amount different from the reported NAV. 
The hedge funds valued by external investment managers taking into consideration the 
fair value of the underlying assets and liabilities, current distribution rates and discounts 
for redemption and liquidity restrictions. Accordingly, the estimated fair values may 
differ from the values that would have been used had a ready market existed for these 
investments. 
 
Interest Rate Swap Agreements - Interest rate swap agreements are valued using both 
observable and unobservable inputs, such as quotations received from the counterparty, 
dealers or brokers, whenever available and considered reliable.  In instances where 
models are used, the value of the interest rate swap depends upon the contractual terms 
of, and specific risks inherent in, the instrument as well as the availability and reliability 
of observable inputs.   
 
Such inputs include market prices for reference securities, yield curves, credit curves, 
measures of volatility, prepayment rates, assumptions for nonperformance risk and 
correlations of such inputs. Interest rate swap agreements have inputs which can 
generally be corroborated by market data and are therefore classified as Level 2. 

 
There have been no changes in the methodologies used at September 30, 2023 and 2022. 
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NOTE 3 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE (CONTINUED) 

 
The following tables set forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the Organization 's 
assets and liabilities subject to fair value reporting at fair value as of September 30, 2023 and 
2022: 
 

2023

Investments

Valued using

Net Asset Fair Value Measurements Using

Description Total Value (a) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Money market funds 201,725$            --$                      201,725$            --$                      --$                      

Fixed income

Corporate bonds 763,121              --                        --                        763,121              --                        

Municipal bonds 50,332                --                        50,332                --                        --                        

Equity securities

Common stocks 743,853              --                        743,853              --                        --                        

Preferred stocks 89,278                --                        89,278                --                        --                        

Mutual funds 7,855,725           --                        7,855,725           --                        --                        

Exchange traded funds 960,161              --                        960,161              --                        --                        

Hedge funds 638,221              638,221              --                        --                        --                        

Private equity funds 1,534,701           1,534,701           --                        --                        --                        

12,837,117         2,172,922           9,901,074           763,121              --                        

Assets whose use is limited

Money market funds 3,395,669           --                        3,395,669           --                        --                        

US treasuries 5,850,420           --                        5,850,420           --                        --                        
9,246,089           --                        9,246,089           --                        --                        

Interest rate swap agreements 837,202              --                        --                        837,202              --                        

Total Assets at Fair Value 22,920,408$       2,172,922$         19,147,163$       1,600,323$         --$                      
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NOTE 3 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE (CONTINUED) 
 

2022

Investments

Valued using

Net Asset Fair Value Measurements Using

Description Total Value (a) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Money market funds 68,395$              --$                      68,395$              --$                      --$                      

Fixed income

Corporate bonds 195,240              --                        --                        195,240              --                        

Municipal bonds 51,008                --                        51,008                --                        --                        

Equity securities

Common stocks 639,047              --                        639,047              --                        --                        

Preferred stocks 88,718                --                        88,718                --                        --                        

Mutual funds 7,412,160           --                        7,412,160           --                        --                        

Exchange traded funds 836,805              --                        836,805              --                        --                        

Hedge funds 2,351,802           2,351,802           --                        --                        --                        

Total Assets at Fair Value 11,643,175$       2,351,802$         9,096,133$         195,240$            --$                      

Total Liabilities at Fair Value

Interest rate swap agreements 35,302$              --$                      --$                      35,302$              --$                      

 
(a) Certain investments that are measured at fair value using the net asset value (NAV) per 

share (or its equivalent) practical expedient have not been classified in the fair value 
hierarchy.  The fair value amounts presented in this table are intended to permit 
reconciliation of the fair value hierarchy to the amounts presented in the statements of 
financial position. 
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NOTE 3 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE (CONTINUED) 
 
Additional information regarding investments that report fair value based on NAV per share 
or unit as of September 30, 2023 and 2022 is as follows: 
 

Redemption Liquidity or

Unfunded Redemption Notice Other

Description 2023 2022 Commitments Frequency Period Restrictions

Hedged capital appreciation

Alkeon Growth 638,221$       566,856$       None Quarterly 25 days 1 year

Blackstone Real Estate

Income Trust 30,202           853,910         None Monthly T-3 1 year

Blackstone Private 

Credit Fund 421,254         386,175         None Quarterly 25 days 1 year

North Haven Private

Investment Fund 583,245         544,861         None Quarterly 25 - 30 days None

Pomona   

Investment fund 500,000         --                   None Quarterly 25 - 30 days None

Investments valued using 

Net Asset Value 2,172,922$    2,351,802$    

Fair Value

 
OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, prepaid expense, accounts payable, 
accrued expenses and contract liabilities approximate their fair value because of the short-
term nature of these instruments. 
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NOTE 4 - CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVABLE 

 
Contributions receivable as of September 30, 2023 and 2022 are expected to be collected as 
follows: 
 

2023
Restricted
for Time Restricted

or Purpose in Perpetuity Total

Within one year 303,786$         2,000$             305,786$         
Within one to five years 802,256           8,000               810,256           
More than five years --                     11,000             11,000             

Total contributions receivable 1,106,042        21,000             1,127,042        
Less discount to net present value (96,271)           (4,460)             (100,731)         

Net contributions receivable 1,009,771$      16,540$           1,026,311$      

 
2022

Restricted
for Time Restricted

or Purpose in Perpetuity Total

Within one year 212,838$         2,000$             214,838$         
Within one to five years 532,692           8,000               540,692           
More than five years --                     13,000             13,000             

Total contributions receivable 745,530           23,000             768,530           
Less discount to net present value (65,544)           (5,540)             (71,084)           

Net contributions receivable 679,986$         17,460$           697,446$         

 
Contributions receivable in more than one year at September 30, 2023 and 2022 are 
discounted at 4.5%. 
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NOTE 4 - CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVABLE (CONTINUED) 

 
CONDITIONAL PROMISES TO GIVE 
 
The Organization has been advised that it is named as a beneficiary in other charitable trusts 
and wills.  No amounts have been recognized in the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements, inasmuch as these instruments are conditional and subject to change. 
 
 

NOTE 5 - COVID-19 FUNDING 
 
PROVIDER RELIEF FUND 

 
In response to COVID-19, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES 
Act) was signed into law on March 27, 2020. The CARES Act authorized funding to 
healthcare providers to be distributed through the Provider Relief Fund (PRF).  Payments 
from the Provider Relief Fund are to be used to prevent, prepare for, and respond to COVID-
19, and shall reimburse the recipient for health care related expenses or lost revenues 
attributable to COVID-19 and are not required to be repaid except where PRF funding 
received exceed the limits on eligible health care related expenses or lost revenues as defined 
by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), provided the recipients attest 
to and comply with the terms and conditions.  HHS distributions from the Provider Relief 
Fund include general distribution and targeted distributions.  
 
During the year ended September 30, 2022, the Organization received $1,680,696 in funding 
from the Provider Relief Fund.  For the years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively, $840,000 and $840,696 have been recognized as revenue within COVID-19 
Relief Revenue on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and changes in 
net assets determined on a systematic basis in line with the recognition of specific expenses 
and lost revenues for which the grants are intended to compensate.   
 

 
NOTE 6 - LETTER OF CREDIT 

 
As of September 30, 2023 and 2022, the Organization has a standby letter of credit for 
$600,000 and $700,000, respectively, that renews annually each fiscal year.  There were no 
amounts outstanding as of September 30, 2023 and 2022.  The letter expires in April 2024. 
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NOTE 7 - BONDS PAYABLE 
 

MOZAIC SENIOR LIFE SERIES A AND SERIES B BONDS 
 
On April 29, 2014, the Home obtained $62,000,000 from the issuance of City of Bridgeport 
tax-exempt bonds through People's United Bank, (which was acquired by Manufacturer’s 
and Traders Trust Company (M&T Bank) in April 2022) to develop and construct a new 
campus on Park Avenue.  The new campus was substantially completed on July 1, 2016 and 
houses all operations of the Home.  The bonds consist of Senior Living Facility Revenue 
Bonds, Series 2014A (Series A) in the principal amount of $55,500,000 and Senior Living 
Facility Revenue Bonds, Series 2014B (Series B) in the principal amount of $6,500,000.  The 
Series A bonds and the Series B bonds are subject to mandatory tender on May 1, 2026.  
Quarterly interest payments commenced May 29, 2014 at the Bank Rate as defined in the 
agreement and quarterly principal payments commenced June 1, 2016.  The bonds are 
secured by all tangible assets, contributions receivable, leases and revenues of the Home. 

 
As discussed in Note 2, the Home has interest rate swap agreements with M&T Bank.  The 
original notional values of the swaps were $55,500,000 and $6,500,000, from the issuance of 
the City of Bridgeport tax-exempt bonds.  The swap agreements provide the Home with 
interest rate protection for its City of Bridgeport tax-exempt variable rate bonds. The Home 
agrees to pay M&T Bank fixed rates of 2.67% for the Series A bonds and 2.38% for the 
Series B bonds in exchange for receiving a floating variable rate.  The fixed rates include a 
termination fee equal to 0.145% for the Series A bonds and 0.05% for the Series B bonds, 
which will enable the Home to terminate the swaps at any time on or after May 1, 2023 
without making termination payments. 
 
The bonds payable are subject to certain financial covenants to be tested on an annual basis, 
whereas, the Home is required to meet certain requirements.  The Home was in compliance 
with its financial covenants as of September 30, 2023 and 2022. 
 
TJH SENIOR LIVING, LLC BOND ANTICIPATION NOTES 
 
On December 1, 2022, TJH Senior Living, LLC received $31,695,000 from the issuance of 
City of Stamford Revenue Bond Anticipation Notes (the 2022 BANs).  The BANs bear 
interest at a rate of 11% per year and require no payments of interest or principal until the 
maturity date of December 1, 2027.  As of September 30, 2023, $2,968,840 of accrued 
interest has been incurred and accrued relating to the BANs.  The proceeds from the 2022 
BANs were deposited into a project fund in order to finance the acquisition of the real 
property and pre-development activities related to the project described in Note 10.  In 
conjunction with the financing, the Home contributed approximately $3.2 million to TJH 
Senior Living, LLC during the year ended September 30, 2023.   
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NOTE 7 - BONDS PAYABLE (CONTINUED) 

 
TJH SENIOR LIVING, LLC BOND ANTICIPATION NOTES (CONTINUED) 
 
This amount is in addition to approximately $746,000 of project related expenses paid during 
the fiscal year ending September 30, 2022 by the Home.  In conjunction with the sale of the 
real property, the seller contributed $2.0 million back to TJH Senior Living, LLC and the 
Home, which is included in contributions within nonoperating income in the statement of 
activities and changes in net assets for the year ending September 30, 2023.  TJH Senior 
Living, LLC intends to repay the 2022 BANs through the issuance of approximately $325 
million of tax-exempt revenue bonds, or in lieu thereof, seek other financing to refinance to 
the 2022 BANs and finance the construction of the project.  Jewish Home for the Elderly of 
Fairfield County, Inc. is not legally obligated to make payments in support of the 2022 BANs 
under the associated loan agreement or in any other manner.   
 
Bonds payable on the statements of financial position are net of unamortized debt issuance 
costs of $2,196,410 and $699,000 at September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.  Principal 
payments due on the bonds payable are expected to be as follows: 
 

Series A/B BANs Total
For the Years Ending September 30,

2024 2,446,667$      --$                   2,446,667$      
2025 2,556,667        --                     2,556,667        
2026 43,010,833      --                     43,010,833      
2027 --                     31,695,000      31,695,000      

Less: unamortized issuance costs (656,850)         (1,539,560)      (2,196,410)      

47,357,317$    30,155,440$    77,512,757$    

 
 

NOTE 8 - BENEFIT PLANS 
 
PENSION PLAN 
 
The Organization has a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan (the Plan) covering all 
eligible employees. As of September 30, 2004, the Plan was frozen and all benefit accruals 
ceased.  The benefits are based upon years of service, and employees were fully vested in the 
company match and contribution after five years of service. 
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NOTE 8 - BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED) 

 
PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 
The Organization makes annual contributions to the Plan that meet or exceed the minimum 
funding amounts specified by the Employment Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 
(ERISA), as amended. During the years ending September 30, 2023 and 2022, the 
Organization was required to make contributions to the Plan of $350,000 and $162,500, 
respectively.  Additionally, based on the plan actuary’s calculations, the Organization expects 
to contribute $350,000 to the Plan in fiscal year 2024. 
 
The following table sets forth the changes in the benefit obligations and funded status of the 
Plan as of September 30: 
 

2023 2022

Change in accumulated benefit obligation
Accumulated benefit obligation at beginning of year 3,342,484$      4,816,261$      
Interest cost 160,098           122,255           
Actuarial (gain) loss (81,510)           (1,142,404)      
Settlement (234,467)         (370,198)         
Benefits paid (85,647)           (83,430)           

Accumulated benefit obligation, end of year 3,100,958        3,342,484        

Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 2,583,053        3,479,025        
Actual return on plan assets 120,092           (604,844)         
Employer contributions 350,000           162,500           
Settlement (234,467)         (370,198)         
Benefits paid (85,647)           (83,430)           

Fair value of plan assets, end of year 2,733,031        2,583,053        

Funded status, end of year (underfunded) (367,927)$       (759,431)$       

Amounts recognized in the statements of financial
position

Accrued pension liability (367,927)$       (759,431)$       
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NOTE 8 - BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED) 

 
PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 
The following table sets forth the net periodic benefit cost recognized for the years ended 
September 30:  
 

2023 2022

Components of net periodic benefit cost
Interest cost 160,098$         122,255$         
Expected return on plan assets (92,385)           (134,656)         
Settlement 69,011             135,429           

Amortization of net loss 132,049           206,062           

Net periodic benefit cost 268,773$         329,090$         

 
The Organization has recorded an adjustment to relieve pension liability not recognized in 
the net periodic pension cost of $310,277 and $744,395 for the years ended September 30, 
2023 and 2022, respectively. 

 
ASSUMPTIONS 
 
The significant underlying assumptions used to determine benefit obligations and net benefit 
cost are as follows: 
 

2023 2022

Discount rate - benefit obligation 5.75% 5.35%
Discount rate - net periodic benefit cost 5.35% 2.80%
Long-term rate of return 6.50% 6.50%

Mortality:
Based on Pri-2012 Total dataset base rate mortality table projected generationally using MP-2
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NOTE 8 - BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED) 

 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS MEASURED AT NAV 
 
The plan assets have been invested in certain pooled separate accounts. The fair value of the 
pooled separate accounts have been determined using the net asset value (NAV) per share as 
a practical expedient and is not categorized in the fair value hierarchy. All pooled separate 
accounts of the Plan as of September 30, 2023 and 2022 are invested in registered mutual 
funds which are valued at the closing price reported on the active markets on which the 
individual securities are traded.  
 
The following table list the investments in the pooled separate accounts held within the Plan 
as of September 30, 2023 and 2022: 
 

Redemption 
Frequency Other Redemption

Unfunded if Currently Redemption Notice
Investment 2023 2022 Commitments Eligible Restrictions Period

Pooled separate 
accounts 2,733,031$ 2,583,053$ None Daily None None 

Assets at Fair Value as of September 30:

Fair Value

 
The following is a summary of the asset allocation of the pooled separate accounts of the 
Plan as of September 30, 2023 and 2022: 
 

2023 2022

Large U.S. Equity 27% 33%
Small / Mid U.S. Equity 2% 3%
International Equity 13% 16%
Fixed income 49% 38%
Other 9% 10%
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NOTE 8 - BENEFIT PLANS (CONTINUED) 

 

INVESTMENT STRATEGY 
 

The Plan’s investment strategy was to build an efficient, well diversified portfolio based on a 
long-term, strategic outlook on the investment markets. The investment markets outlook 
utilizes both historical-based and forward-looking return forecasts to establish future return 
expectations for various asset classes. These return expectations were used to develop a core 
asset allocation based on the specific needs of the Plan. The core asset allocation utilized 
multiple investment managers in order to maximize the Plan’s return while minimizing risk.  
The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets reflected the average rate of earnings 
expected on the funds invested, or to be invested, to provide for the benefits included in the 
projected benefit obligation. 
 

In estimating that rate, the Organization gave appropriate consideration to the returns being 
earned by the plan assets in the fund and the rates of return expected to be available for 
reinvestment. 
 

ESTIMATED FUTURE BENEFIT PAYMENTS 
 

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are 
expected to be paid: 
 

 For the Years Ending September 30,

2024 680,000$         
2025 250,000           
2026 260,000           
2027 300,000           
2028 250,000           

2029 - 2033 1,110,000         
 

EMPLOYEE 401K PLAN 
 

The Organization maintains a defined contribution plan.  Employee contributions under the 
plan are determined by the participating employees, subject to certain Internal Revenue 
Service limitations. The Organization matched employee contributions at a rate of 50%, up to 
a maximum of 4% of compensation, through June 30, 2022.  Effective July 1, 2022, the 
Retirement Committee approved an increase to the Organization’s matching contribution to 
100% of the first 4% of compensation.  The Organization also offers a discretionary profit-
sharing contribution.  The Organization’s contribution expense totaled $890,738 and 
$507,886 for the years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
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NOTE 9 - CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK 

 
The Organization grants credits without collateral to its resident, most of whom are local 
residents, and some are funded under third-party payor agreements.  The mix of gross 
receivables at September 30, 2023 and 2022 was as follows: 
 

2023 2022

Medicare       15 %       16 %
Medicaid       39 %       41 %
Private pay and other       46 %       43 %

      100 %       100 %

 
 

NOTE 10 - TJH EXPANSION PROJECT 
 

As mentioned above, during the year ending September 30, 2023, TJH Senior Living, LLC 
began a project which entails the purchase of land and development of a new continuing care 
retirement community or life plan community on approximately 15 acres of land in Stamford, 
Connecticut.  The project has been planned to include a 210-unit senior living facility, 
comprised of independent living, assisted living, memory care and skilled nursing units.  The 
community is planned to consist of 168 independent living units, 14 assisted living units, 14 
memory care units and 14 skilled nursing beds.  The total cost of the project is anticipated to 
be approximately $325 million, which will be partially funded by resident entrance fees 
along with additional future borrowings. 
 
During the year ending September 30, 2023, TJH Senior Living, LLC closed on the purchase 
of the land for the project for approximately $21.6 million dollars.  As of September 30, 
2023, approximately $5.0 million of construction in progress and $21.6 million of land 
relates to the project on the accompanying consolidated statement of financial position.  
Included within the construction in process amount is approximately $2.7 million of 
accumulated capitalized interest on the 2022 BANs.  In addition, TJH Senior Living, LLC 
has access to approximately $9.2 million of assets restricted under the BANs for further 
project costs.  Such amounts are included in assets whose use is limited under bond 
anticipation notes on the statement of financial position.  Jewish Home for the Elderly of 
Fairfield County, Inc. is not legally obligated to make payments in support of the 2022 BANs 
under the associated loan agreement or in any other manner.   
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NOTE 11 - LIQUIDITY AND AVAILABILITY OF RESOURCES 

 
The Organization’s financial assets available within one year of the consolidated statements 
of financial position date for general expenditure as of September 30, 2023 and 2022 are as 
follows: 
 

2023 2022

Cash and cash equivalents 5,255,314$      8,195,924$      
Accounts receivable, net 6,232,924        5,230,470        
Current portion of contributions receivable,

net without donor restrictions 305,786           214,838           
Entrance fee receivables 40,556             141,020           
Investments 12,837,117      11,643,175      

24,671,697      25,425,427      

Less: Amounts restricted by donors (13,165,592)    (12,561,740)    
Less: Net amount used in construction project 

subsequent to year end --                     (1,203,372)      

Total Financial Assets Available Within One Year
for General Expenditure 11,834,580$    13,782,252$    

LIQUIDITY MANAGEMENT 
 
The Organization is substantially supported by amounts it receives for providing patient and 
resident services. In addition, the Organization receives donations and has accumulated an 
endowment that is restricted in part by donors with the remainder restricted by the 
Organization’s board of directors. Because a donor’s restriction requires resources to be used 
in a particular manner or in a future period, the Organization must maintain sufficient 
resources to meet those responsibilities to its donors. Thus, financial assets may not be 
available for general expenditure within one year. As part of the Organization’s liquidity 
management, it has a policy to structure its financial assets to be available as its general 
expenditures, liabilities, and other obligations come due. In addition, the Organization has the 
ability to access its board designated investments to meet obligations that are in excess of its 
normal operating cash flows.  
 
Additionally, the Organization also has a $700,000 letter of credit available as of 
September 30, 2023 (see Note 6). 
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NOTE 12 - NET ASSETS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS 
 

The following is the composition of the Organization’s net assets with donor restrictions at 
September 30, 2023 and 2022: 
 

2023 2022

Restricted in perpetuity
General purpose 9,257,071$      9,147,678$      
Income use restricted

Specific programs 1,860,030        1,860,030        

Total restricted in perpetuity 11,117,101      11,007,708      

Restricted by time or purpose
Accumulated earnings on endowment funds

held in perpetuity 77,389             --                     
Term endowment - purpose restricted 944,791           856,587           
Specific programs 4,617               13,202             
Capital 973,404           644,712           
Future periods 48,290             39,531             

Total purpose and time restricted 2,048,491        1,554,032        

Total Net Assets with Donor Restrictions 13,165,592$    12,561,740$     
 
Net assets with donor restrictions were released from restrictions by incurring expenses 
satisfying the restricted purposes or by the occurrence of other events specified by donors are 
as follows for the years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022: 
 

2023 2022

Purpose restrictions
Accumulated earnings on permanent endowment funds 280,585$         446,624$         
Specific programs --                     16,794             
Capital --                     212,889           

Passage of time --                     10,000             

Net Assets Released from Restrictions 280,585$         686,307$         
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NOTE 13 - ENDOWMENT 

 
The Organization 's endowment consists of approximately 70 individual funds established for 
a variety of purposes. Its endowment includes both donor-restricted endowment funds and 
funds designated by the Board of Directors to function as endowments.  As required by 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, net assets 
associated with endowment funds, including funds designated by the Board of Directors to 
function as endowments, are classified and reported based on the existence or absence of 
donor-imposed restrictions. 
 
INTERPRETATION OF RELEVANT LAW 
 
The Board of Directors of the Organization has interpreted the Connecticut Uniform Prudent 
Management of Institutional Funds Act (CTUPMIFA) as requiring the preservation of the 
fair value of the original gift as of the gift date of the donor-restricted endowment funds 
absent explicit donor stipulations to the contrary. As a result of this interpretation, the 
Foundation classifies as net assets with donor restrictions (a) the original value of gifts 
donated to the permanent endowment, (b) the original value of subsequent gifts to the 
permanent endowment, and (c) accumulations to the permanent endowment made in 
accordance with the direction of the applicable donor gift instrument at the time the 
accumulation is added to the fund.  

 
The remaining portion of the donor-restricted endowment fund not classified in permanently 
endowment is classified as donor-restricted net assets until those amounts are appropriated 
for expenditure by the organization in a manner consistent with the standard of prudence 
prescribed by CTUPMIFA. 
 
In accordance with CTUPMIFA, the Organization considers the following factors in making 
a determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds: 
 
 The duration and preservation of the fund 
 The purposes of the organization and the donor-restricted endowment fund 
 General economic conditions 
 The possible effect of inflation and deflation 
 The expected total return from income and the appreciation of investments 
 Other resources of the organization 
 The investment policies of the organization 
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NOTE 13 - ENDOWMENT (CONTINUED) 

 
INTERPRETATION OF RELEVANT LAW (CONTINUED) 
 
Endowment net asset composition as of September 30, 2023 and 2022 is as follows: 
 

Without Total
Donor With Donor Endowment

2023 Restriction Restrictions Assets

Board-designated endowment funds 244,120$         --$                   244,120$         
Donor-restricted endowment funds:

Original donor-restricted gift amount
and amounts required to be maintained
in perpetuity by donor --                     11,117,101      11,117,101      

Accumulated gains and income on
donor-restricted endowment assets
not yet appropriated --                     --                     --                     

Term endowment --                     944,792           944,792           

Total Funds 244,120$         12,061,893$    12,306,013$    

 
Without Total
Donor With Donor Endowment

2022 Restriction Restrictions Assets

Board-designated endowment funds 126,550$         --$                   126,550$         
Donor-restricted endowment funds:

Original donor-restricted gift amount
and amounts required to be maintained
in perpetuity by donor --                     11,007,708      11,007,708      

Accumulated gains and income on
donor-restricted endowment assets
not yet appropriated --                     --                     --                     

Term endowment --                     856,587           856,587           

Total Funds 126,550$         11,864,295$    11,990,845$    
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NOTE 13 - ENDOWMENT (CONTINUED) 

 
INTERPRETATION OF RELEVANT LAW (CONTINUED) 
 
 Change in endowment net assets for the years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 are as 
follows:

Without Total
Donor With Donor Endowment

Restriction Restrictions Assets

Endowment net assets -

October 1, 2021 316,888$         13,389,286$    13,706,174      

Investment return
Income, net 4,427               172,133           176,560           
Net investment (losses) gains (194,765)         (1,316,500)      (1,511,265)      

Total investment return (190,338)         (1,144,367)      (1,334,705)      

Contributions --                     66,000             66,000             

Appropriation of endowment

assets for expenditure --                     (446,624)         (446,624)         

Endowment net assets -
September 30, 2022 126,550           11,864,295      11,990,845      

Investment return
Income, net 24,496             206,800           231,296           
Net investment gains 93,074             202,865           295,939           

Total investment return 117,570           409,665           527,235           

Contributions --                     68,518             68,518             

Appropriation of endowment

assets for expenditure --                     (280,585)         (280,585)         

Endowment net assets -
September 30, 2023 244,120$         12,061,893$    12,306,013$    
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NOTE 13 - ENDOWMENT (CONTINUED) 

 
FUNDS WITH DEFICIENCIES 
 
From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted 
endowment funds may fall below the level that the donor or CTUPMIFA requires the 
Organization to retain as a fund of perpetual duration.  As of September 30, 2023, the 
cumulative value of the endowment funds was above the level that donor or CTUPMIFA 
requires the Organization to retain.   
 
RETURN OBJECTIVES AND RISK PARAMETERS 
 
The Organization has adopted investment and spending policies for endowment assets 
attempting to provide a predictable stream of funding to programs supported by its 
endowment while seeking to maintain the purchasing power of the endowment assets. 
Endowment assets include those assets of donor- restricted funds the Organization must hold 
in perpetuity or for a donor-specified period(s) as well as board- designated funds. Under this 
policy, as approved by the Board of Directors, the endowment assets are invested in a 
manner intending to produce results exceeding the price and yield results of the 
Organization's custom index while assuming a moderate level of investment risk. The 
Organization expects its endowment funds, over time, to provide an average rate of return of 
approximately 6.5% annually. Actual returns in any given year may vary from this amount. 
 
STRATEGIES EMPLOYED FOR ACHIEVING OBJECTIVES 
 
To satisfy its long-term rate-of-return objectives, the Organization relies on a total return 
strategy in which investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation (realized 
and unrealized) and current yield (interest and dividends). The Organization targets a 
diversified asset allocation placing an emphasis on equity-based and fixed income 
investments to achieve its long-term return objectives within prudent risk constraints. 
 
SPENDING POLICY AND HOW THE INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES RELATE TO SPENDING POLICY 
 
The Organization has a policy of appropriating for distribution each year 4% of the total 
endowment investment value.  In establishing this policy, the Organization considered the 
long-term expected return on its endowment.  
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NOTE 13 - ENDOWMENT (CONTINUED) 

 
SPENDING POLICY AND HOW THE INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES RELATE TO SPENDING POLICY 
  (CONTINUED) 
 
Accordingly, over the long term, the Organization expects the current spending policy to 
allow its endowment to grow at an average of 6.5% annually.  This is consistent with the 
Organization's objective to maintain the purchasing power of the endowment assets held in 
perpetuity or for a specified term as well as to provide additional real growth through new 
gifts and investment return. The Organization has a policy that does not permit spending 
from underwater endowment funds, unless otherwise precluded by donor intent or relevant 
laws and regulations. 
 
 

NOTE 14 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
The Auxiliaries made contributions to the Organization of $320,648 and $465,000 for the 
years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.  Amounts due to the Organization 
from the Auxiliaries at September 30, 2022 are reflected in prepaid expenses and other assets 
in the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position and amounted to 
approximately $6,349. There were no amounts due to the Organization at September 30, 
2023. 
 
The Organization receives a fee for providing billing services for Geriatric Professional 
Group, LLC (GPG), which provides physicians' services to residents of the Organization. 
The Organization had revenues from GPG of approximately $12,000 during each of the years 
ended September 30, 2023 and 2022.  Amounts due to the Organization from GPG at 
September 30, 2023 and 2022 are reflected in prepaid expenses and other assets in the 
accompanying consolidated statements of financial position and amounted to approximately 
$735 and $1,055, respectively. 
 
 

NOTE 15 - CASH FLOWS 
 
ADDITIONAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
 
The Organization paid cash for interest of $2,115,300 and $2,186,629 during the years ended 
September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. 
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NOTE 16 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

 
Claims and legal actions are brought against the Organization during the normal course of 
business. Management has taken the necessary steps to mitigate potential losses by obtaining 
insurance coverage and engaging legal counsel. In the opinion of management, no claims or 
legal actions have been asserted against the Organization that, individually or in the 
aggregate, will be in excess of its insurance coverage. 
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Mozaic Senior TJH Senior Eliminations Consolidated

Life Living, LLC Total
Assets

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5,148,130$     107,184$               --$                  5,255,314$     
Accounts receivable, net 6,232,924       --                            --                    6,232,924       
Current portion of contributions receivable, net 305,786          --                            --                    305,786          
Prepaid expenses and other assets 276,947          --                            --                    276,947          
Entrance fee receivables 40,556            --                            --                    40,556            
Agency assets - residents' trust funds 170,286          --                            --                    170,286          

Total Current Assets 12,174,629     107,184                 --                    12,281,813     

Property and Equipment
Land 5,000,000       21,578,337            --                    26,578,337     
Buildings and improvements 92,838,179     --                            --                    92,838,179     
Equipment 4,451,483       --                            --                    4,451,483       
Computers and software 1,673,083       --                            --                    1,673,083       
Vehicles 377,001          --                            --                    377,001          
Construction in process 37,119            5,025,987              --                    5,063,106       

104,376,865   26,604,324            --                    130,981,189   
Less accumulated depreciation 28,587,469     --                            --                    28,587,469     

Property and Equipment - net 75,789,396     26,604,324            --                    102,393,720   

Other Assets
Investments 12,837,117     --                            --                    12,837,117     
Assets whose use is limited by others --                    9,246,089 --                    9,246,089       
Contributions receivable, net 720,525          --                            --                    720,525          
Other 125,196 --                            --                    125,196          
Interest rate swap agreements 837,202          --                            --                    837,202          
Goodwill, net of accumulated amortization 380,000          --                            --                    380,000          

Total Other Assets 14,900,040     9,246,089              --                    24,146,129     

Total Assets 102,864,065$ 35,957,597$          --$                  138,821,662$ 
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Mozaic Senior TJH Senior Eliminations Consolidated

Life Living, LLC Total
Liabilities and Net Assets

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable 1,131,668$     342,929$               --$                  1,474,597$     
Accrued taxes, expenses and other liabilities 3,304,999       --                            --                    3,304,999       
Contract liabilities 1,267,130       --                            --                    1,267,130       
Current portion of bonds payable, net 2,446,667       --                            --                    2,446,667       
Agency liabilities - funds held for residents 170,286          --                            --                    170,286          

Total Current Liabilities 8,320,750       342,929                 --                    8,663,679       

Other Liabilities
Bonds payable, net of current portion and debt issuance costs 44,910,650     --                            --                    44,910,650     
Bond anticipation notes payable, net of debt issuance costs --                    30,155,440 --                    30,155,440     
Accrued interest on bond anticipation notes --                    2,968,840 --                    2,968,840       
Liability under split-interest agreements 137,799          --                            --                    137,799          
Deferred revenue from entrance fees, net 4,862,636       --                            --                    4,862,636       
Security deposits --                    107,000 --                    107,000          
Accrued pension liability 367,927          --                            --                    367,927          

Total Other Liabilities 50,279,012     33,231,280            --                    83,510,292     

Total Liabilities 58,599,762     33,574,209            --                    92,173,971     

Net Assets 
Without donor restrictions 31,098,711     2,383,388              --                    33,482,099     
With donor restrictions 13,165,592     --                            --                    13,165,592     

Total Net Assets 44,264,303     2,383,388              --                    46,647,691     

Total Liabilities and Net Assets 102,864,065$ 35,957,597$          --$                  138,821,662$ 
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TJH Senior
Living, LLC

Without Donor With Donor Without Donor Consolidated
Restrictions Restrictions Restrictions Eliminations Total

Operating Revenues
Resident care and services 51,412,796$      --$                     --$                     --$                     51,412,796$      
Community services 12,891,218 --                       --                       --                       12,891,218        
COVID-19 Relief Revenue 840,000 --                       --                       --                       840,000             
Other income 2,201,167          --                       --                       --                       2,201,167          
Net assets released from restrictions - operations 280,585             (280,585)           --                       --                       --                       

Total Operating Revenues 67,625,766        (280,585)           --                       --                       67,345,181        

Operating Expenses
Program services 61,773,527        --                       --                       --                       61,773,527        
Management and general 7,727,741          --                       1,616,984 --                       9,344,725          
Fundraising 651,321             --                       --                       --                       651,321             

Total Operating Expenses 70,152,589        --                       1,616,984          --                       71,769,573        

Loss from Operations (2,526,823)        (280,585)           (1,616,984)        --                       (4,424,392)        

Nonoperating Income (Expense)
Contributions 3,509,976          485,588             --                       --                       3,995,564          
Change in liability under split-interest agreements (11,256)             --                       --                       --                       (11,256)             
Net realized and unrealized losses on investments 854,183             192,049             --                       --                       1,046,232          
Investment income, net 210,879             206,800             --                       --                       417,679             
Loss on sale of fixed assets (18,283)             --                       --                       --                       (18,283)             
Unrealized gain on interest rate swap agreements 872,505             --                       --                       --                       872,505             
Transfers to affiliates (4,000,372)        --                       4,000,372          --                       --                       

Net Nonoperating Income 1,417,632          884,437             4,000,372          --                       6,302,441          

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues over Expenses (1,109,191)        603,852             2,383,388          --                       1,878,049          

Change in Pension Liability 310,277             --                       --                       --                       310,277             

Net Assets Released from
Restrictions - Capital --                       --                       --                       --                       --                       

Change in Net Assets (798,914)           603,852             2,383,388          --                       2,188,326          

Net Assets - Beginning 31,897,625        12,561,740        --                       --                       44,459,365        

Net Assets - End 31,098,711$      13,165,592$      2,383,388$        --$                     46,647,691$      

Mozaic Senior Life
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EXHIBIT VI 

SOURCE AND APPLICATION OF FUNDS  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



TJH Senior Living, LLC
Mozaic Concierge Living
Sources and Uses Permanent 

Financing / 
Construction

Sources
Equity $4,000,000
Long-Term Bonds(1) 149,299,000
Short-Term Bonds(1) 186,274,000
Start-Up Deficits Funded by EFs 25,326,000
Excess BANs Proceeds 2,000,000
Interest Earned 621,000

TOTAL - Sources $367,521,000

Uses
Land and Other Land Related $21,515,000
Professional Services 6,526,000
Construction/Development 211,122,000
Marketing 8,000,000
Legal, Misc, and Pre-Opening 4,331,000
Project Contingency 9,483,000
Financing & Issuance 17,574,000
Funded Interest 37,145,000
Debt Service Reserve 21,493,000
Start-Up Deficit 25,332,000
Liquity Support 5,000,000

TOTAL - Uses $367,521,000

0
(1) Construction and related project costs are anticipated to be

funded through the issuance of both Long-Term and Short-
Term bonds. The Long-Term bonds are expected to be interest 
only for 4 years and have an amortization period of 31 years 
with an interest rate of 6.80%. Short-term bonds are 
anticipated to have a maturity of 8 years with an interest rate of 
5.45%. Short-Term bonds will be paid down with Entrance Fees 
received by the Community.
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EXHIBIT VII 

SWORN STATEMENT OF ESCROW AGENT 
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	1. ACCOMMODATIONS AT MOZAIC CONCIERGE LIVING
	1.1. Your Residence
	1.2. Furnishings
	1.3. Utilities
	1.4. Alterations

	2. COMMON SPACES
	3. SERVICES
	3.1. Meals
	a. Dining.  Provider will make available a flexible dining program.  Three nutritionally balanced meals per day will be offered at Mozaic Concierge Living.  Your Monthly Fee includes a monthly dining credit of $750 that is equivalent to the dollar val...
	b. Meal Delivery.  Provider will provide limited meal delivery to your Residence during a temporary illness or during a period of an infectious disease outbreak at no charge, when approved by the Executive Director or designee at Mozaic Concierge Livi...
	c. Guests.  You are encouraged and may invite guests to any meal.  Guest meals may be purchased by you or your guests and billed to you as an additional charge on your Monthly Fee invoice.  You may use your monthly dining credit to purchase guest meals.

	3.2. Weekly Housekeeping
	3.3. Weekly Laundry
	3.4. Maintenance and Repairs
	3.5. Activities
	3.6. Community Areas
	3.7. Transportation
	3.8. Parking
	3.9. Guests
	3.10. Services Available at Additional Charge
	3.11. Change in Scope and Frequency of Services

	4. HEALTH CARE
	4.1. Observation
	4.2. Assisted Living and Memory Care
	4.3. Skilled Nursing Care
	4.4. Level of Care Determinations and Interdisciplinary Team
	4.5. Medical Insurance, Medicare and Supplemental Coverage

	If you are sixty-five (65) years of age or older, you will obtain and maintain in force at your cost Medicare Part A, Part B and Part D, or equivalent insurance coverage under a public or private insurance plan, including but not limited to Medicare ...
	4.6.    Physician Services
	4.7.    Private Duty Aides
	4.8.   Emergency Care
	4.9.   Excluded and Non-Covered Services

	5. FEES
	5.1. Processing Fee
	5.2. Entrance Fee
	5.3. Monthly Fee
	a. Amount. You will pay a monthly fee for your Residence. The monthly fee applicable to single occupancy of your Residence, described in Section 1.1 is currently __________________________________________ dollars ($_____________________________) (“Fir...
	b. Payment Procedures.  You will begin paying your initial Monthly Fee on the date you sign this Agreement, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by Provider.  Thereafter, you will be obligated to make payment to Provider by the fifth (5th) day of the...
	c. Adjustments.  Provider may, at its discretion, adjust your Monthly Fee upon giving you thirty (30) days’ advance written notice.  Adjustments to the Monthly Fee will typically occur on an annual basis at the beginning of Provider’s fiscal year, but...

	5.4. Fees For Optional Services
	5.5. Absence from Mozaic Concierge Living

	6. DEFAULT AND POSSIBLE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE
	6.1. Termination for Failure to Make Payments
	6.2. If You Encounter Financial Difficulty
	a. If you encounter financial difficulty that challenges your ability to pay your Monthly Fees and other charges, Provider will not automatically terminate this Agreement, if you meet the criteria for assistance described in Section 6.2.b.   If you su...
	b. If you are still unable to pay your Monthly Fees and other charges after applying for and obtaining all available public assistance for which you are eligible, you may seek assistance from Provider, based on your ability to pay.  Subject to Section...
	c. Provider will have no obligation to give you any financial assistance if you:  (a) have impaired your ability to meet your financial obligations under this Agreement by transferring your assets for less than their fair market value (e.g., by making...
	d. As part of any alternative payment arrangement, you will be required to execute any instruments (including promissory notes, assignments and deeds of trust) that Provider deems necessary to evidence or secure its claim for repayments of any sums du...
	e. You may be required to move to a smaller residence at Mozaic Concierge Living.
	f. You will be required to give Provider information about your financial condition, as described in Section 11.2, as a condition of receiving any financial assistance.


	7. RELOCATION
	7.1. Relocation of Residence
	a. Substitution of Residence by Provider.  Provider reserves the right to substitute your Residence with another comparable residence if it is necessary to do so to meet any requirement of law or the lawful order or direction of the Fire Marshal or an...

	7.2. Temporary Relocation
	7.3. Joint Occupancy by Members
	If you and another member, residing in two separate Residences, decide to live together, you may release either of your Residences and live in the other Residence, or you may release both of your Residences and move into a new residence subject to av...

	7.4. Joint Occupancy by Member and Non-Member
	7.5. Voluntary Relocation of One Joint Member
	7.6. Temporary Relocation for Health Reasons
	7.7. Permanent Relocation for Health Reasons
	a. Relocation of Single Occupant.  If you occupy your Residence by yourself and you require permanent care outside your Residence, you will be required to vacate your Residence within thirty (30) days after the Executive Director gives you notice that...
	b. Relocation of One Joint Occupant.  If you occupy your Residence with another member and one of you requires permanent care outside your Residence, the member requiring care will relocate to the Health Center, or an outside facility, as appropriate....
	c. Relocation of Both Joint Occupants.  If you occupy your Residence with another member and both of you require permanent care outside your Residence, you will be required to vacate and remove your possessions from your Residence within thirty (30) d...

	7.8. Grounds for Relocation
	7.9. Temporary or Permanent Relocations
	7.10. Recovery

	8. TERMINATION
	8.1. Right of Rescission Period
	8.4.   Termination by Death After Rescission Period
	8.5.   Termination by Provider After Rescission Period
	Provider may terminate this Agreement at any time after the Rescission Period, for good cause, by giving you one-hundred twenty (120) days’ written notice.  Good cause shall include, but not be limited to, the following:
	a.  Your failure to perform your obligations under this Agreement, including your obligation to pay the full Monthly Fee and other charges on a timely basis;
	b.  Your or your guest’s failure to abide by the guidelines of Provider, as contained in the Member Handbook, as it now exists or may later be amended, or as otherwise communicated to you;
	c.  Your or your guest’s creation of a disturbance within Mozaic Concierge Living or conduct that is disruptive or detrimental to others’ health, safety or peaceful enjoyment of Mozaic Concierge Living or that interferes with the...
	d.  Omissions or misstatements in your Application for Residency Form or any other application documents filed with or verbal representations made to Provider;
	e.  Any material transfer of your assets or income for less than fair market value or material gifts made without prior approval from Provider;
	f.  Your failure to disclose information about your financial condition after being asked to do so; or
	g.  Your permanent relocation (for dual occupancies, the permanent relocation of both of you) from the premises of Mozaic Concierge Living.



	9. REFUNDS
	9.1. Rescission Period and Automatic Cancellation
	9.2. Termination After Rescission Period
	9.4.      Effect of Double Occupancy on Refunds or Repayments
	9.5.    Residence Upgrade Fees

	10. MEMBERS’ RIGHTS LIMITED
	10.1. No Real Property or Trust Interest
	10.2. No Interest in Financial or Other Assistance
	10.3. No Security Interest
	10.4. Member Handbook
	10.5. Assignment

	11. MEMBER’S REPRESENTATIONS
	11.1. Application Documents
	11.2. Member’s Financial Condition

	12. MISCELLANEOUS
	12.1. Personal Planning and Financial Affairs
	12.2. Third Party Liability
	12.3. Liability and Property Matters
	a. Liability in General.  You accept full responsibility for any injury or damage caused to others, or suffered by you, as a result of your own acts or omissions, and those of your guests or invitees, and you indemnify and hold harmless Provider and i...
	b. Property Damage.  Provider will not be responsible for the loss of or damage to any property belonging to you due to theft, fire, or any cause beyond the control of Provider.  You are required to obtain insurance protection to cover the full replac...
	c. Property Removal and Storage.  Provider will have the right to remove and store all property from your Residence, at your expense, thirty (30) after you vacate your Residence on a permanent basis (for example, upon termination of this Agreement, pe...

	12.4. Right of Entry
	12.5. Damage to Your Residence or Mozaic Concierge Living
	a. Provider will maintain insurance, including property damage and business interruption insurance, in amounts and with coverages that it determines are appropriate, in its discretion.  If all or part of Mozaic Concierge Living is destroyed or damaged...
	b. If Provider restores Mozaic Concierge Living and your Residence is not suitable for occupancy during such restoration, Provider will pay the costs of renting reasonably comparable quarters at or near Mozaic Concierge Living, provided that you conti...

	12.6. Natural Disasters
	12.7. Interruption in Services
	12.8. Notices
	12.9. Smoking
	12.10. Relationships Between Members and Staff
	12.11. Pets
	12.12. Entire Agreement
	12.13. Waiver of One Breach Not a Waiver of Any Other Obligation
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